DISSERTATION

ALFALFA REFERENCE CROP EVAPOTRANSPIRATION IN COLORADO AND ITS USE FOR IRRIGATION SCHEDULING

Submitted by

Abdulkariem Mukhtar Aljrbi Department of Soil and Crop Sciences

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Spring 2015

Doctoral Committee:

Advisor: Jessica G. Davis Co-Advisor: Allan A. Andales

Yaling Qian Neil Hansen Copyright by Abdulkariem Aljrbi_2015

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

ALFALFA REFERENCE CROP EVAPOTRANSPIRATION IN COLORADO AND ITS USE FOR IRRIGATION SCHEDULING

The goal of irrigation scheduling is efficient use of water such that water is applied to the field for optimal crop production. Previous studies have optimized irrigation scheduling using different models to manage sprinkler irrigation. This research evaluated approaches for obtaining alfalfa reference evapotranspiration (ET_r) and its use in a new irrigation scheduling model for a furrow irrigation system. The objectives of this research were to: 1) Compare seasonal trends of daily ET_r from the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equation and the Penman-Kimberly (PK) equation along a climatic gradient in Colorado, 2) Verify the agreement between calculated ET_r from the ASCE-SPM equation and measured ET_r from a lysimeter during the 2010 season for the Arkansas Valley of Colorado and correct the lysimeter ET_r for alfalfa overgrowth, and 3) Test the ASCE-SPM ETr along with a locally adapted Kcr curve for corn in an irrigation scheduling spreadsheet tool for simulating the daily soil water deficit of furrow irrigated corn in northeast Colorado.

The two reference ET equations were compared using R^2 , Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE), Relative Error (RE), and index of agreement (d). The R^2 values ranged from 0.93 to 0.99; d ranged from 0.98 to 0.99, RMSE ranged from 0.29 to 0.75 mm/d, and RE ranged from - 6.35 to 1.91 %. In a comparison of the ASCE-SPM and PK equations at the Fort Collins and

Rogers Mesa sites in 2011, differences were observed between the energy balance and aerodynamic terms of each equation. The energy budget calculated by the ASCE-SPM was generally 28% lower than the energy budget calculated by the PK equation at both locations for 2011. On the other hand, the aerodynamic term calculated by the ASCE-SPM equation was from 27 - 28 % higher than the aerodynamic term calculated from PK during most of 2011 at both locations.

The second objective of this research compared alfalfa ET measured with a lysimeter in the center of a 4.06 ha furrow irrigated field at the Colorado State University Arkansas Valley Research Center in Rocky Ford, CO to the calculated values from the ASCE-SPM equation in periods of reference conditions in 2010. Four days were selected when alfalfa in the lysimeter was 50 – 55 cm tall, unstressed, completely covering the ground, but with its canopy extending beyond the outer walls of the lysimeter. On these dates, hourly lysimeter ET_r was 0.08 to 0.11 mm/h higher than ASCE-SPM ET_r. The theoretical surface area of the lysimeter was 9.181 m², while the observed effective canopy area was up to 12.461 m² due to overgrowth. Surface area corrections for the overgrowth increased the index of agreement (d) between hourly lysimeter ET_r and ASCE-SPM ET_r from the 0.96 – 0.98 range to the 0.99 – 1.0 range. These results showed that it is important to use the correct effective canopy area when computing ET_r from a weighing lysimeter.

The CIS model for calculating water deficit under a furrow irrigation system with the addition of some data from field measurements such as soil moisture content, gross irrigation, climate data, and plant height and leaf area index generated good results. The water deficit under corn was simulated at the Limited Irrigation Research Farm (LIRF) located near Greeley, Colorado during the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. Daily corn crop ET (ET_c) calculated from daily ASCE-SPM ET_r and a locally-derived crop coefficient curve (K_{cr}) were used by the CIS for daily soil water deficit calculations via water balance. This data was used to test a furrow irrigation system via the CIS model and to simulate the field irrigation by predicting the time and the amount of water for the next irrigation. The results showed good agreement between calculated and measured deficits where index of agreement (d) ranged from 0.5 to 0.99 for most years of this study, specifically when measurements of soil water content (SWC) were inserted bi-weekly or monthly. The RMSE did not exceed 2.54 mm when using SWC once per season in 2011, while bi-weekly measurements recorded d to be 0.96 in 2010, 0.99 in 2011 and 0.70 in 2012. Also, the CIS showed that irrigation water usage could be reduced by 30 to 50% through use of CIS.

ABSTRACTii
TABLE OF CONTENTS
CHAPTER ONE: Introduction
References
CHAPTER TWO: Comparison of Reference Evapotranspiration Using the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) Standardized Penman-Monteith and Penman-Kimberly Equations Across a Climatic Gradient in Colorado
Overview
Introduction11
Materials and Methods13
Locations.13Climatic data collection.13ETr calculated by the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) standardizedPenman-Monteith Equation.14ETr calculated by the Penman-Kimberly Equation.15Terms of the ASCE-SPM and PK Equations.16Data processing
Differences in energy budget terms and aerodynamic terms
Conclusion
References
CHAPTER THREE : Effective Surface Area Corrections for Alfalfa Reference Evapotranspiration from a Weighing Lysimeter
Overview

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Location of lysimeter	
Lysimeter design	
Measured evapotranspiration from lysimeter	
The ASCE standardized reference equation	
Lysimeter evapotranspiration corrections	
Statistical analysis	
Results and Discussion	
Conclusion	
References	61
CHAPTER FOUR: Evaluation of Colorado Irrigation Schedul Irrigated Corn in Northeast Colorado	ler (CIS) for Furrow
Overview	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Field study	
Soil water and crop measurement	
Evapotranspiration estimation	
Colorado Irrigation Scheduler (CIS)	
CIS evaluation	
Results and Discussion	
Field water balance and corn growth	
CIS evaluation	
Conclusion	
References	
CHAPTER FIVE: Conclusions and Recommendations	

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

The agriculture sector is the biggest water consumer in most countries that are interested in increasing agricultural production (Rosegrant et al., 2002). The competition for water resources from other sectors, such as municipal, has become one of the greatest challenges facing agricultural production (Rahaman and Varis, 2005). The rapid growth in population is accompanied by an increase in food demand and a reduction in the water quota for the agricultural sector (Bilsborrow, 1987). Under such conditions, it is important to use irrigation water more efficiently (Sinclair et al., 1984). Therefore, irrigation management increasingly relies on highly efficient tools to help reduce water use in agriculture (Cifre et al., 2005).

Evapotranspiration (ET) is the amount of water lost from plants and soils (Reynolds et al., 2004). The amount of water transpiration from plants into the atmosphere via stomata depends on water potential, humidity, availability of water in the soil, atmospheric moisture, and the temperature in the air and soil (Satoh et al., 2013). Plants use transpiration to cool plant cells (Han and Young, 2014). The climate plays an important role in controlling ET through factors such as solar radiation, temperature, wind, humidity and vapor pressure (Irmak et al., 2012). Water requirements depend on the evapotranspiration rate (Lopes and Bonaccurso, 2012). The quantity of water used for the synthesis of plant tissue is only 1% of the water absorbed, and the rest is lost by transpiration or water vapor which is not included in the processes of growth (Briggs and Smithson, 1986). The total amount of water required in the different stages of plant life (Fereres and Soriano, 2007). The ET rate increases when soil water content is high because

more water is available to the plants (Van Donk et al., 2010). There is a direct correlation between evapotranspiration rate and soil water content, where higher ET rates are normally found after irrigation or precipitation due to availability of more water (Ferrante et al., 2014).

The ASCE standardized Penman-Monteith equation (ASCE-SPM) is one of many equations used to calculate evapotranspiration (Allen et al., 2005; Cobaner, 2011). Good results have been obtained from the ASCE-SPM equation during the reference stage when the plants are at standard height and without stress. The standardized reference ET can be calculated for (1) a short crop (similar to grass) or (2) a tall crop (similar to alfalfa) (Abtew and Melesse, 2013). ET_{os} is the reference for short crops having a height of 12 cm, whereas ET_{rs} is the reference for tall crops having a height of 50 cm. In addition, this equation can work in both hourly and daily time steps (Abtew and Melesse, 2013).

The best way to calculate crop ET from the field is with a lysimeter which provides precise crop ET measurements (López-Urrea et al., 2012). Precision weighing lysimeters are used to measure ET in the field using mass balance (Ding et al., 2010). Many studies have been conducted to compare measured ET using lysimeter data and calculated reference ET using 1982 Penman Kimberly (PK), FAO-56 Penman, and ASCE-SPM equations (Kumar et al., 2011). These studies concluded that all of those equations are sufficiently accurate to recommend their use for calculating reference evapotranspiration (Davidov and Moteva, 2010).

Increasing ET is a consequence of increasing water availability for consumption in the field (Chen et al., 2010). Irrigation management plays an important role in providing the

appropriate quantity of water to plants when needed (Hensley et al., 2011). Irrigation scheduling determines how much and when water is needed (Incrocci et al., 2014). Reducing water consumption in agriculture depends on irrigation management through irrigation scheduling (Knox et al., 2012). Irrigation scheduling focuses on when and how much water should be applied to the field before plants reach Management Allowed Depletion (MAD), and MAD is the amount of depletion of available water in the plant root zone (plant available water) that can be tolerated before applying water (Hillyer, 2011). Land should be irrigated so that soil water content is between field capacity and MAD and available to plants (Kumar et al., 2014).

Reference Evapotranspiration (Ref-ET) is a program (http://www.kimberly.uidaho.edu/ref-et/) that can be used to calculate ET_r , with inputs of climatic data, and Colorado Agricultural Meteorological Network (CoAgMet) has been providing hourly and daily climate data since 1990 (Gleason, 2013). CoAgMet is also providing hourly and daily ET data using the ASCE-SPM and PK equations. Calculating accurate ET leads to obtaining good irrigation scheduling (Jayasinghe, 2013).

Accurate ET_r leads to accurate crop ET (ET_c) estimates, which are used in calculating the soil water balance for irrigation scheduling. ET_c cannot be calculated without a crop coefficient (K_c). In Colorado the crop coefficients have been developed only for the PK equation (Gleason, 2013). The ET_c equation follows

$$ET_c = ET_r * K_{cr}$$
 Eq. (1)

where ET_{c} is crop evapotranspiration (mm/d); ET_{r} is alfalfa reference evapotranspiration (mm/d) and K_{cr} is the alfalfa-based crop coefficient (Al Wahaibi, 2011). Gleason (2013) adapted a K_{c} curve for corn (*Zea mays L*.) for use with ASCE-SPM ET_{r} under northeastern Colorado conditions.

Before using equation (1) for irrigation scheduling, one should test the accuracy of ET_{rs} from the ASCE-SPM equation under field conditions because using untested ET could lead to inaccurate estimates of crop water requirement. The introduction of ET_r from ASCE-SPM on the CoAgMet website has created a need to compare those values with the ET_r from the PK equation under local Colorado climate conditions. Measured ET_r from a lysimeter presents an actual ET from the field and can also be compared to ASCE-SPM ET_r to verify their agreement.

The Colorado Irrigation Scheduler (CIS; Gleason, 2013) is a spreadsheet irrigation scheduling tool that uses the ASCE-SPM ET_{rs} calculated by CoAgMet for estimating daily ET_{c} . There is a need to test the CIS for furrow-irrigated fields in eastern Colorado. Furrow irrigation is a method of applying water at a specific rate of flow into shallow, evenly spaced channels (Burguete et al., 2014). Water is conveyed by these channels down the slope in the field, and plants can be planted either in the channels or on the beds between the channels depending on the agricultural practice in the region (Gonçalves et al., 2011). This method differs from flood irrigation in that only part of the ground surface is covered with water (Ebrahimian et al., 2013). The water moves through the soil both vertically and horizontally (Siyal et al. 2012). The furrow stream is applied until the desired application depth and lateral penetration are obtained (Ali, 2011). How long water must be applied in the furrows depends on the volume of water required

to fill the soil to the desired depth, the intake rate of the soil, and the spacing of the furrows and length of the field (Kelly et al., 2011). A uniform slope is preferred because this allows application of irrigation water with higher efficiency (Latif et al., 2013). Number of irrigation sets should be determined in the field, and the farm should be divided by set for irrigation. Also, time of application is the duration for which water is applied to the furrows in each set. The duration is the irrigation time period for each set to apply the required amount of water through each furrow at an acceptable irrigation efficiency (Reddy et al., 2013).

The objectives of this study were to:

- 1- Compare seasonal trends of daily ET_r from the ASCE-SPM equation and the PK equation along a climatic gradient in Colorado.
- 2- Verify the agreement between calculated ET_r from the ASCE-SPM equation and measured ET_r from a lysimeter during the 2010 season for the Arkansas Valley of Colorado and correct the lysimeter ET_r for alfalfa overgrowth.
- 3- Test the ASCE-SPM ETr along with a locally adapted Kcr curve for corn in an irrigation scheduling spreadsheet tool for simulating the daily soil water deficit of furrow irrigated corn in northeast Colorado.

References

- Abtew, W., and A. Melesse. 2013. Reference and Crop Evapotranspiration. In Evaporation and Evapotranspiration. Springer, New York Volume 1 pp. 133-140. http://link.springer.com/book/10.1007%2F978-94-007-4737-1
- Al Wahaibi, H. S. 2011. Evaluating the ASCE Standardized Penman-Monteith Equation and Developing Crop Coefficients of Alfalfa Using a Weighing Lysimeter in Southeast Colorado Doctoral dissertation, Colorado State University, Fort Collins.
- Ali, M. 2011. Irrigation System Designing. In Practices of Irrigation and On-farm Water Management. Springer, New York. Volume 2 pp. 65-110. <u>http://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-1-4419-7637-6_3#page-1</u>
- Allen, R., Walter, I., Elliott, R., Howell, T., Itenfisu, D., Jensen, M., and Snyder, R. 2005. The ASCE standardized reference evapotranspiration equation, American Society of Civil Engineers. Environ. Water Resour. Inst., American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA.
- Bilsborrow, R. E. 1987. Population pressures and agricultural development in developing countries: A conceptual framework and recent evidence. World Development 15(2): 183-203.
- Briggs, D. J., and P. Smithson. 1986. Fundamentals of Physical Geography. Rowman and Littlefield; London.
- Burguete, J., Lacasta, A., and García-Navarro, P. 2014. SURCOS: A software tool to simulate irrigation and fertigation in isolated furrows and furrow networks. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 103: 91-103.
- Chen, L., Wang, J., Wei, W., Fu, B., and Wu, D. 2010. Effects of landscape restoration on soil water storage and water use in the Loess Plateau Region, China. Forest Ecology and Management 259(7): 1291-1298.
- Cifre, J., Bota, J., Escalona, J. M., Medrano, H., and Flexas, J. 2005. Physiological tools for irrigation scheduling in grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.): An open gate to improve water-use efficiency? Agriculture, ecosystems and environment 106(2): 159-170.
- Cobaner, M. 2011. Evapotranspiration estimation by two different neuro-fuzzy inference systems. Journal of Hydrology 398(3): 292-302.
- Davidov, D., and M. Moteva. 2010. Comparison of crop evapotranspiration, calculated by FAO Penman-Monteith and by air temperature method. Agricultural Engineering 1: 102-106.

- Ding, R., Kang, S., Li, F., Zhang, Y., Tong, L., and Sun, Q. 2010. Evaluating eddy covariance method by large-scale weighing lysimeter in a maize field of northwest China. Agricultural Water Management 98(1): 87-95.
- Ebrahimian, H., Liaghat, A., Parsinejad, M., Playán, E., Abbasi, F., and Navabian, M. 2013. Simulation of 1D surface and 2D subsurface water flow and nitrate transport in alternate and conventional furrow fertigation. Irrigation Science 31(3): 301-316.
- Fereres, E., and M. A. Soriano. 2007. Deficit irrigation for reducing agricultural water use. Journal of Experimental Botany 58(2): 147-159.
- Ferrante, D., Oliva, G. E., and Fernández, R. J. 2014. Soil water dynamics, root systems, and plant responses in a semiarid grassland of Southern Patagonia. Journal of Arid Environments 104: 52-58.
- Gleason, D.J. 2013. Evapotranspiration-based irrigation scheduling tools for use in eastern Colorado. M.S. Thesis, Colorado State University, Fort Collins.
- Gonçalves, J. M., Muga, A. P., Horst, M. G., and Pereira, L. S. 2011. Furrow irrigation design with multicriteria analysis. Biosystems Engineering 109(4): 266-275.
- Han, C., and S. L. Young. 2014. Drought and grazing disturbances and resistance to invasion by warm-and cool-season perennial grassland communities. Ecological Restoration 32(1): 28-36.
- Hensley, M., Bennie, A. T. P., Van Rensburg, L. D., and Botha, J. J. 2011. Review of 'plant available water' aspects of water use efficiency under irrigated and dry land conditions. Water South Africa 37(5): 771-779.
- Hillyer, C. C. 2011. Optimal Irrigation Management: A Framework, Model, and Application for Optimizing Irrigation when Supplies are Limited. Doctoral dissertation, Oregon State University, Corvallis.
- Incrocci, L., Marzialetti, P., Incrocci, G., Di Vita, A., Balendonck, J., Bibbiani, C., and Pardossi,
 A. 2014. Substrate water status and evapotranspiration irrigation scheduling in heterogenous container nursery crops. Agricultural Water Management 131: 30-40.
- Irmak, S., Kabenge, I., Skaggs, K. E., and Mutiibwa, D. 2012. Trend and magnitude of changes in climate variables and reference evapotranspiration over 116-yr period in the Platte River Basin, central Nebraska–USA. Journal of Hydrology 420: 228-244.
- Jayasinghe, S. 2013. Evaluation of evapotranspiration methods to replace Penman-Monteith method in the absence of required climatic data in order to have a better irrigation scheduling. M.S. Thesis, University of Moratuwa, Sri Lanka.

- Kelly, B. F. J., Acworth, R. I., and Greve, A. K. 2011. Better placement of soil moisture point measurements guided by 2D resistivity tomography for improved irrigation scheduling. Soil Research 49(6): 504-512.
- Knox, J. W., Kay, M. G., and Weatherhead, E. K. 2012. Water regulation, crop production, and agricultural water management—Understanding farmer perspectives on irrigation efficiency. Agricultural Water Management 108: 3-8.
- Kumar, B. A., Kanannavar, P., Balakrishnan, P., Pujari, B., and Hadimani, M. 2014. Laser guided land leveler for precision land development. Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences 26(2): 271-275.
- Kumar, R., Shankar, V., and Kumar, M. 2011. Modelling of crop reference evapotranspiration: A review. Universal Journal of Environmental Research and Technology 1(3): 239-246.
- Latif, A., Shakir, A. S., and Rashid, M. U. 2013. Appraisal of economic impact of zero tillage, laser land levelling and bed-furrow interventions in Punjab, Pakistan. Pak. J. Engineering and Applied Science 13: 65-81.
- Lopes, M. C., and E. Bonaccurso. 2012. Evaporation control of sessile water drops by soft viscoelastic surfaces. Soft Matter 8(30): 7875-7881.
- López-Urrea, R., Montoro, A., Mañas, F., López-Fuster, P., and Fereres, E. 2012. Evapotranspiration and crop coefficients from lysimeter measurements of mature 'Tempranillo'wine grapes. Agricultural Water Management 112: 13-20.
- Rahaman, M. M., and Varis, O. 2005. Integrated water resources management: evolution, prospects and future challenges. Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy 1(1): 15-21.
- Reddy, J. M., Jumaboev, K., Matyakubov, B., and Eshmuratov, D. 2013. Evaluation of furrow irrigation practices in Fergana Valley of Uzbekistan. Agricultural Water Management 117: 133-144.
- Reynolds, J. F., Kemp, P. R., Ogle, K., and Fernández, R. J. 2004. Modifying the 'pulse-reserve' paradigm for deserts of North America: precipitation pulses, soil water, and plant responses. Oecologia 141(2): 194-210.
- Rosegrant, M.W., X. Cai, and S.A. Cline. 2002. World water and food to 2025: dealing with scarcity. Joint publication of IFPRI, Washington DC, USA and International Water Management Institute (IWMI), Sri Lanka.
- Satoh, T., Sugita, M., Yamanaka, T., Tsujimura, M., and Ishii, R. 2013. Water Dynamics within the Soil–Vegetation–Atmosphere System in a Steppe Region Covered by Shrubs and Herbaceous Plants. In: Yamamura, N., Fujita, N., Maekawa, A. (Eds.). The Mongolian

Network: Environmental Issues under Climate and Social Changes. Ecological Research Monographs. Springer, Tokyo. pp. 43–63. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-54052-6_5</u>

- Sinclair, T. R., Tanner, C. B., and Bennett, J. M. 1984. Water-use efficiency in crop production. BioScience: PP. 36-40.
- Siyal, A. A., Bristow, K. L., and Šimůnek, J. 2012. Minimizing nitrogen leaching from furrow irrigation through novel fertilizer placement and soil surface management strategies. Agricultural Water Management 115: 242-251.
- Van Donk, S., Martin, D. L., Irmak, S., Melvin, S. R., Peterson, J., and Davison, D. 2010. Crop residue cover effects on evaporation, soil water content, and yield of deficit irrigated corn in West Central Nebraska. Transactions of the ASABE 53(6): 1787-1797.

CHAPTER TWO: COMPARISON OF REFERENCE EVAPOTRANSPIRATION USING THE AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS (ASCE) STANDARDIZED PENMAN-MONTEITH AND PENMAN-KIMBERLY EQUATIONS ACROSS A CLIMATIC GRADIENT IN COLORADO

Overview

Reference evapotranspiration (ET) is used to represent atmospheric demand for water. The Colorado Agricultural Meteorological Network (CoAgMet) provides weather data used for calculating alfalfa reference crop ET (ET_r) using the Penman Kimberly (PK) equation. Recently, CoAgMet has also started to provide alfalfa reference ET using the ASCE Standardized Penman-Monteith equation (ASCE-SPM). The objectives of this study were (1) to compare the alfalfa reference crop ET using the ACSE-SPM and the PK equations along a climatic gradient in Colorado and (2) to evaluate the effects of weather factors on the reference ET values from these two equations. Hourly weather data was collected and obtained from CoAgMet from seven weather stations located in Fort Collins, Greeley, Iliff, Fruita, Rogers Mesa, Rocky Ford, and Yellow Jacket during the years 2008 to 2011. This data was then used to calculate hourly reference ET using the two equations. The two reference ET equations were compared using R^2 , Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE), Relative Error (RE), and index of agreement (d). The R² values ranged from 0.93 to 0.99; d ranged from 0.98 to 0.99, RMSE ranged from 0.29 to 0.75 mm/d, and RE ranged from -6.35 to 1.91 %. The seasonal cumulative ET_r calculated values using the PK equation were lower than the ASCE-SPM values on average. For 2011, the highest mean value of relative humidity and lowest mean value of solar radiation were observed at the southernmost site (CSU Rogers Mesa) where the lowest mean ET_r values were calculated among the seven sites. In a comparison of the ASCE-SPM and PK equations at the Fort Collins and Rogers Mesa sites in 2011, differences were observed between the energy balance and aerodynamic terms of each equation. The energy budget calculated by the ASCE-SPM was generally 28% lower than the energy budget calculated by the PK equation at both locations for 2011. On the other hand, the aerodynamic term calculated by the ASCE-SPM equation was from 27 - 28 % higher than the aerodynamic term calculated from PK during most of 2011 at both locations.

Introduction

Evapotranspiration can be determined directly using lysimeters or can be calculated using reference ET equations. The 1982 Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM; ASCE-EWRI, 2005) equations for alfalfa (tall reference) are two of the most commonly utilized equations to calculate reference ET (Itenfisu et al., 2003). Crop evapotranspiration (ET_c) can be determined by multiplying the reference ET by a crop coefficient. However, the relative performance of these two equations has not been widely tested in irrigated regions of Colorado.

Many studies have been conducted which compare the results between different reference ET equations, such as the 1982 Penman-Kimberly (PK) and ASCE-SPM approaches (Itenfisu et al., 2003). These studies have concluded that both of those equations are sufficiently accurate to recommend their use for calculation of reference ET. This study compares ET_r values calculated

using the ASCE-SPM and PK equations under local weather conditions in Colorado because crop coefficient (K_c) values in CoAgMet were developed for use with PK ET_r. The question is; are major adjustments to the K_c curves required for use with ASCE-SPM ET_r? This can only be verified by comparing the ET_r values from the ASCE-SPM and PK equations throughout the growing season.

The ASCE-SPM and the PK equations are used to calculate crop water requirements under local climate and soil conditions (Irmak et al., 2008). Using these equations with inaccurate or average data for weather, soil, and crop conditions will result in inaccurate ET calculations. This can lead to wrong estimates for crop water requirements (Yoder et al., 2005). However, using the standardized information on crop ET rates combined with knowledge of the local weather, soil, and crop conditions can help to determine more efficient irrigation amounts and scheduling (Amir and Martin, 2001). In Colorado, the Colorado Agriculture Meteorological Network (CoAgMet) (http://ccc.atmos.colostate.edu/~coagmet) provides local weather data (Gent and Schwartz, 2003). It provides hourly and daily climate data and calculated reference ET rates and uses both the PK and the ASCE SPM equations (Taghvaeian et al., 2012).

In 2010, Liu et al. (2010) published results from their comparison of the FAO PM and PK methods using climatic data from 1951 to 2007 in the Beijing area. Statistical analyses showed that the PK method had high correlation with the PM method and the lowest values of Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE).

A study by the Agricultural and Food Engineering Department at the Indian Institute of Technology was done at the experimental farm, Kharagpur, India and found from comparisons of the equations with lysimeter data that the Penman-Monteith equation (1965) gave the best result followed by 1982-PK, and the RMSE in all cases varied between 0.08 and 0.76 mm/d (Kashyap and Panda, 2001).

A comparison study can determine the impacts of using two different reference ET equations for estimating crop ET for the semi-arid conditions of Colorado. The objectives of this study were to:

- Compare the seasonal behaviors of the ET_r values from ACSE-SPM and PK equations across a climatic gradient in Colorado from 2008 to 2011.
- 2- Determine and evaluate the effects of climatic factors on ET_r and explain the differences between ASCE-SPM and PK ET_r values.

Materials and Methods

Locations

The weather stations from the Colorado Agriculture Meteorological Network (CoAgMet) used in the study includes seven field sites in Colorado (Table 2-1). The locations of these sites represent a climatic gradient from west to east of Colorado. The hourly data which was used to calculate the ASCE-SPM reference and the PK ET were provided by CoAgMet from 2008 to 2011 (http://ccc.atmos.colostate.edu/~coagmet/station_description.php).

Climatic data collection

Complete automatic weather stations present at the seven sites were used to obtain the factors needed in the ET_r equations. Climatic data was recorded automatically every minute

using a data logger and then processed as hourly and daily output. The sensor used to measure rainfall was a TE525 tipping bucket rain-gauge located >1 m above the ground. A R.M. Young Wind Sentry (prop-anemometer) placed 2 m above the ground was used to measure wind speed and wind direction. A Vaisala HMP45C Probe placed 1.5 m above the ground was used to measure temperature and relative humidity. A Licor LI-200X Pyranometer placed ~2 m above the ground was used to measure solar radiation. CSI Model 107 Soil Temp Probe (thermistor) sensors were installed at 0.05 m and 0.15 m depths below the soil surface where two sensors used; 0.1 depth where were or at m only one sensor was used (http://ccc.atmos.colostate.edu/~coagmet/station_description.php).

ET_r calculated by the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) standardized Penman-Monteith Equation

The standardized reference ET can be calculated for (1) a short crop (similar to grass) or (2) a tall crop (similar to alfalfa). ET_{os} is the reference for a short crop that has a height of 12 cm whereas ET_{rs} is the reference for a tall crop that has a height of 50 cm. In addition, this equation can work with both hourly and daily reference ET equations.

The ASCE-SPM equation for tall reference is given:

$$ET_{rs} = \frac{0.408 \,\Delta (R_n - G) + \gamma \frac{C_n}{T + 273} u_2(e_s - e_a)}{\Delta + \gamma (1 + C_d u_2)}$$
Eq. (1)

where the units for the factor 0.408 coefficient is $m^2 \text{ mm/MJ}$. ET_{rs} is the standardized reference crop ET for tall surfaces (mm/h); Δ is the slope of the saturation vapor pressure-temperature

curve (kPa/°C); R_n is the calculated net radiation at the crop surface (MJ/m²/h); G is the soil heat flux density at the soil surface (MJ/m²/h); γ is a psychrometric constant (kPa/°C); C_n is the numerator values that changes with reference type and calculation time step (K mm s³/Mg/h or K mm s³/Mg/d); T is the mean hourly air temperature in °C at 1.5 to 2.5-m height; u₂ is the mean hourly wind speed at 2 m height (m/s); e_s is the saturation vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5 m height (kPa); e_a is the mean actual vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5 m height (kPa); C_d is a denominator value that changes with reference type and calculation time step (s/m) (Allen et al., 2007). For this study, the ASCE-SPM was used to calculate hourly tall (alfalfa) reference ET_{rs}. The standardized C_n and C_d values were C_n= 66 (K mm s³/Mg/h) at daytime and nighttime and C_d = 0.25 (s/m) at daytime and C_d = 1.7 (s/m) at nighttime.

ET_r calculated by the Penman-Kimberly Equation

The following equation was used for hourly time steps:

$$\lambda ET_{r} = \frac{\Delta}{\Delta + \gamma} (R_{n} - G) + \frac{\gamma}{\Delta + \gamma} 0.268 (e_{s} - e_{a}) W_{f}$$
 Eq. (2)

where ET_r is the reference ET (mm h⁻¹), λ is latent heat of vaporization (MJ kg⁻¹) and W_f is the wind function. The wind function was calibrated for the Kimberly, Idaho locale, and the wind function coefficients vary with the time of year. Net radiation coefficients in the 1982 Penman-Kimberly also depend on the time of year. The Penman-Kimberly 1996 ET_r values were calculated using the wind function (Wright et al., 2000).

The dimensionless wind function is calculated as follows:

where: a_w and b_w are empirical coefficients that lessen the effect of the wind function and they are calculated as follows with x representing the day number in the calendar year (Wright, 2000):

$$a_w = 0.4 + 1.4 * e^{\left[-\left(\frac{x-173}{58}\right)^2\right]}$$
 Eq. (4)

$$bw = 0.007 + 0.004 * e^{\left[-\left(\frac{x-243}{80}\right)^2\right]}$$
 Eq. (5)

 U_2 is the wind speed at 2 m height in kilometers per day.

Terms of the ASCE-SPM and PK equations

The Ref-ET program (Allen, 2000) is software used for calculating the reference ET rates from weather data and includes 15 methods, including the ASCE-SPM and the PK equations (<u>http://www.kimberly.uidaho.edu/ref-et/</u>).

Ref-ET provides output of some terms of each equation that were used to calculate ET_r . The aerodynamic term includes some weather data and canopy characteristics such as temperature, wind speed, vapor pressure, plant height, LAI, surface resistance and stomata resistance. The energy budget term includes net radiation and soil heat flux density at the soil surface (equations 1 and 2). Daily aerodynamic and energy budget terms were calculated separately from the ASCE-SPM and PK equations and then compared for the CSU ARDEC and Rogers Mesa Sites in 2011 to study the differences between the terms of both equations (ASCE-EWRI, 2005).

Data processing

The REF-ET computer program can calculate reference ET using 15 different equations, two of which are the ASCE-SPM and PK. This program was used to calculate reference ET for a tall crop (similar to alfalfa) that has a height of 50 cm. The calculations were based on the climate data that are available on CoAgMet. The hourly climatic data included Mean Temperature (°C), Vapor Pressure (kPa), Solar Radiation (MJ/m²), mean wind speed (m/s), and Mean of Relative Humidity (%). Four years of data (2008 - 2011) obtained from CoAgMet were transferred into Excel and then used by the Ref-ET program to calculate hourly reference evapotranspiration using ASCE-SPM and PK.

The comparisons between the two equations were made using the daily reference ET which was calculated in a 2 step process; hourly weather data were used to calculate hourly ET_r , and then hourly ET_r were summed for each 24-hour period to get daily ET_r . This two-step process is deemed more accurate than using daily climate data in calculating the ET_r directly (Allen, 2000).

Evaluation and statistical analysis

The calculated data were analyzed using Microsoft Office Excel. The regression lines of daily ET_{r} calculated with the two equations were statistically analyzed for the seven locations and four years. The comparisons between the two equations were made using the daily readings to show the correlation and relationship between the ET_{r} values.

Several statistics were used to compare the two ET_r equations including Sum, Average, Minimum (Min), Maximum (Max), Standard Deviation (STDEV), and R^2 . In addition, Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE) is a statistic used in environmental estimation models (Jacovides and Kontoyiannis, 1995; Wallach, 2006). Small RMSE values indicate good agreement. However, RMSE values are not a good indication of over or under estimation of a model (Jacovides and Kontoyiannis, 1995). Relative Error (RE) was used to present the percentage difference between ET_r from the two equations (Willmott et al., 1985). The index of agreement (d) is another indicator used to measure performance of a model (Harmel and Smith, 2007). It has a domain between one and zero. A 1 value means an excellent agreement, while a 0 value means a poor agreement. Alternatively, R squared (R^2) shows how well data points fit a line or curve. An R^2 value of 1 means an excellent fitting line, while a 0 value means a poor fitting line (Cameron and Windmeijer, 1997).

Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE) was calculated as follows:

RMSE =
$$\left(1/N\sum_{i=1}^{N}(y_i - x_i)^2\right)^{1/2}$$
 Eq. (4)

where N is the total number of observations, y_i is the calculated SPM ET_r, and x_i is the calculated PK ET_r (Willmott et al., 1985).

Relative Error (RE) was calculated as follows:

$$RE = \left(\frac{y_i - x_i}{x_i}\right) \times 100 \qquad Eq. (5)$$

where RE is relative error used to indicate the percentage difference. It can be positive or negative. Positive values mean the percentage of over-estimation, and negative values mean the percentage of under-estimation (Willmott et al., 1985). y_i is mean ET_r from PK equation and x_i is mean ET_r from ASCE-SPM equation.

Index of agreement (d) was calculated as follows:

$$d = 1 - \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (y_i - x_i)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (|y_i'| - |x_i'|)^2}\right)$$
 Eq. (6)

where: d is between one and zero, $y'_i = y_i - \bar{x}$ and $x'_i = x_i - \bar{x}$, y_i and \bar{x} is the mean measured value (Willmott et al., 1985). y'_i is the ASCE-SPM values and x'_i is the PK values.

Results and Discussion

Annual comparisons

For each year, mean ET_r values using the PK equation were always lower than the values obtained from the ASCE-SPM equation for all locations except the CSU Rogers Mesa site (Table 2-2). The values in the Index of Agreement were close to one (Table 2-2). The negative values for the Relative Error of Mean (%) indicate that the PK ET_r is lower than the ASCE-SPM ET_r on an annual basis. The R² values (0.93 - 0.99) indicate that the ET_r from the two equations were strongly correlated in each of the four years in all seven locations. The difference at CSU Expt Rocky Ford for 2011 was the highest compared to other years and other stations, where RE was at -6.4% and RMSE was at 0.72 mm/d (Table 2-2). The two equations have some differences in the way the energy balance and aerodynamic terms are calculated, but the weather data used in both equations are the same, and they calculate daily ET_{r} under similar conditions. The calculated ET_{r} from the two equations showed that the PK equation generally resulted in lower annual or seasonal ET_{r} values than the ASCE-SPM equation which illustrates an important difference between the equations. Based only on mean ET_{r} values from ASCE-SPM equation and the most complete year of record (2011), the highest mean daily ET_{r} was observed at Rocky Ford (5.26 mm/d) while the lowest was at Rogers Mesa (3.66 mm/d) (Table 2-3).

To show the cumulative differences throughout a season, daily cumulative plots are shown for all locations in 2011 (Figures 2-5 and 2-6). The cumulative daily ET_r based on the ASCE-SPM and PK equations for 2011 in each of the seven locations was ideal in 2011 in terms of having a full weather data set. The cumulative reference ET data showed the correlation between the total readings of daily ET_r based on the two equations for the years studied at the seven stations, but the cumulative reference ET_r data from the two equations did not match during the year. The cumulative figures show that the PK values were generally lower than the ASCE-SPM. The CSU Rogers Mesa site showed the cumulative daily ET_r based on the PK equation was very close to the cumulative daily ET_r based on the ASCE-SPM equation.

Daily differences by time of year

The differences between the calculated PK ET rates and the ASCE-SPM ET rates were least in the summer months (May - October) at the majority of the stations (Figures 2-7 to 2-13). The differences were greater in late winter and early spring months for all locations. Figures 2-7 to 2-13, for the years 2008, 2010, and 2011, show differences in the daily ET_r values calculated using the ASCE-SPM and PK equations for the seven locations. Note that the daily PK ET_r was generally lower than the daily ASCE-SPM ET_r during the spring, fall, and winter periods. The greatest differences were during spring months followed by the fall months at most locations. Figures 2-10 to 2-12 shows the largest differences in the daily ET_r at the CSU Expt. Rocky station for winter 2011 while the lowest differences during this same period were at the CSU Rogers Mesa station. During the months May through October, the ET_r for the two equations had a smaller difference than the months November through April (ASCE-EWRI, 2005).

Differences in energy budget terms and aerodynamic terms

Figure 2-14 shows a comparison of the daily energy budget terms (mm/d) as calculated by the ASCE-SPM and PK equations at CSU ARDEC Station and CSU Rogers Mesa station for 2011. At the ARDEC station the daily energy budget terms of the PK equation was higher than the daily energy budget terms of the ASCE-SPM equation during 2011. The ET_r can be affected directly by net radiation and soil heat flux because they are the main factors in energy budget terms. Also, Figure 2-15 shows the difference between the aerodynamic part of calculating ET_r from ASCE-SPM and PK equations. Aerodynamic term can be affected too by the weather and plant factors such as temperature, wind speed, humidity, vapor pressure, plant height, LAI, surfaces resistance of plant and stomata resistance. Therefore, at the CSU ARDEC Station and CSU Rogers Mesa station for 2011 show clear differences from calculating aerodynamic term by the two equations. The aerodynamic term calculated by the PK equation was generally lower than the aerodynamic term calculated by ASCE-SPM equation during the year. The differences in the energy budget term and aerodynamic term between the two equations explain why the ASCE-SPM equation gave relatively higher ET_r values than PK equation during the four years in most locations in Colorado.

Figure 2-16 shows greater variability in net radiation (R_n) differences between the two equations during winter, spring and fall periods; and the PK R_n values to be more consistently lower than ASCE-SPM R_n values from DOY 120 to 230 (mid-year). The differences between the PK and ASCE-SPM ET_r appear to be correlated to the differences in net radiation when looking at these differences at the CSU ARDEC Station and CSU Rogers Mesa Station during 2011 (Figure 2-16; Figures 2-7 and 2-12). A small difference between net radiation as calculated by the two equations correlates to a small difference in ET_r between the two equations. Likewise, a large difference between net radiation correlates to larger differences in ET_r values from the two equations.

Effects of weather

The effects of weather parameters on ET_r differences between the two equations are shown in Figures 2-17 to 2-20. There was no obvious trend in the differences versus R_n (Figure 2-17). However, the difference between PK and ASCE-SPM ET_r became generally more negative when wind speeds were above 2 m/s (Figure 2-18).

The difference between PK and ASCE-SPM ET_r was also affected by humidity (actual vapor pressure or relative humidity). The PK equation tended to give lower ET_r values than the ASCE-SPM equation as vapor pressure or relative humidity decreased (Figures 2-19 and 2-20).

Differences in ET_{r} were generally less than 0.5 mm/d when mean actual vapor pressure was higher than 1.5 kPa (Figure 2-19).

Implications on crop coefficient curves

Crop evapotranspiration (ET_c) comprises most of the consumptive water use of plants. ET_c can be calculated by multiplying ET_r from ASCE-SPM equation or PK equation with a crop coefficient (K_c) that varies with growth stage. The K_c represents the characteristics of plants such as canopy cover, growth stage, leaf area index, and crop type that affect the amount of ET_c . The length of each growth stage depends on the climate, latitude, elevation, planting date, and crop type, maturity group of different varieties or cultivars, and management practices.

Early in the growing season during the crop germination and establishment stage, most ET_c occurs as evaporation from the soil surface. As the crop canopy develops and covers the soil surface, evaporation from the soil surface decreases and transpiration increases. Early in the season when the plant is small, the water use rate and K_c value also are small (K_c initial stage). As the plant develops, the crop ET rate increases. For agronomic plants, the crop ET rate is at the maximum level when the plant is fully developed (K_c mid-season). The ET rate decreases again toward the end of the season when the plant reaches physiological maturity (K_c end season).

Mean K_c values can be calculated by taking the ratio of measured ET_c and calculated ET_r from a reference ET equation, such as the PK or ASCE-SPM equation. In most locations in this study, the comparison between ET_r values from the ASCE-SPM and PK equations showed generally lower ET_r values from the PK equation. Thus, the lower ET_r values from the PK equation would result in higher calculated K_c values compared to using the ASCE-SPM equation. Given that the K_c values currently used in CoAgMet were developed for use with PK ET_r values, those K_c values would generally have to be decreased in the spring and fall periods and increased during summer, before they can be used with the ASCE-SPM ET_r values. Therefore, the development of new seasonal K_c curves for use with the ASCE-SPM ET_r values is recommended for Colorado conditions.

Conclusion

The current analysis is a comprehensive comparison of the daily ET_{r} values from the ASCE-SPM and PK equations. This analysis used hourly weather data gathered from seven different locations in Colorado. In general, the PK equation tended to give lower ET_{r} values during spring and fall periods, and slightly higher values during summer months compared to the ASCE-SPM equation. Comparisons of the seasonal cumulative ET_{r} showed that the PK equation values were consistently lower than the ASCE-SPM equation. The aerodynamic term calculated by the ASCE-SPM equation was generally higher than the aerodynamic term calculated by the PK equation, and the energy budget term calculated by the PK was generally higher than the energy budget term calculated by the ASCE-SPM ET_r is relatively higher than PK ET_r.

The difference between PK and ASCE-SPM ET_r became generally more negative when wind speeds were above 2 m/s. The difference between PK and ASCE-SPM ET_r was also affected by humidity (actual vapor pressure or relative humidity). The PK equation tended to give lower ET_r values than the ASCE-SPM equation as vapor pressure or relative humidity decreased. Differences in ET_{r} were generally less than 0.5 mm/d when mean actual vapor pressure was higher than 1.5 kPa.

Given the differences in ET_r values from the PK and the ASCE-SPM equations and the move towards adopting the ASCE-SPM equation in Colorado, it is recommended that new K_c curves for calculating ET_c be developed for use with ASCE-SPM ET_r values.

References

- Allen, R.G. 2000. Ref-Et: Reference evapotranspiration calculation software for FAO and ASCE standardized equations, University of Idaho. Available online at: www.kimberly.uidaho.edu/ref-et/ (accessed 7 March 2012).
- Amir, K., And Martin, S. 2001. FAO Methodologies on Crop Water Use and Crop Water Productivity. Expert Meeting on Crop Water Productivity, Rome, Italy, 3–5 December 2001.
- ASCE-EWRI. 2005. The ASCE standardized reference evapotranspiration equation. In: Allen RG, Walter IA, Elliot RL, et al. (eds.) Environmental and Water Resources Institute (EWRI) of the American Society of Civil. Engineers, ASCE, Standardization of Reference Evapotranspiration Task Committee Final Report, 213pp. Reston, VA: American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE).
- Cameron, A. C., and Windmeijer, F. A. 1997. An R-squared measure of goodness of fit for some common nonlinear regression models. Journal of Econometrics 77(2): 329-342.
- Gent, D. H., and H. F. Schwartz. 2003. Validation of potato early blight disease forecast models for Colorado using various sources of meteorological data. Plant Disease 87(1): 78-84.
- Harmel, R.D., and Smith, P.K. 2007. Consideration of measurement uncertainty in the evaluation of goodness-of-fit in hydrologic and water quality modeling. Journal of Hydrology 337: 326–336.
- Irmak, A., Irmak, S., and Martin, D. L. 2008. Reference and crop evapotranspiration in south central Nebraska. I: Comparison and analysis of grass and alfalfa-reference evapotranspiration. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 134(6): 690-699.
- Itenfisu, D., Elliott, R. L., Allen, R. G., and Walter, I. A. 2003. Comparison of reference evapotranspiration calculations as part of the ASCE standardization effort. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 129(6): 440-448.
- Jacovides, C.P., and Kontoyiannis, H. 1995. Statistical procedures for the evaluation of evapotranspiration computing models. Agricultural Water Management 27: 365-371.
- Kashyap, P. S., and R. K. Panda. 2001. Evaluation of evapotranspiration estimation methods and development of crop-coefficients for potato crop in a sub-humid region. Agricultural Water Management 50(1): 9-25.
- Liu, Y., Liu, H. J., and Luo, Y. 2010. Comparison of potential evapotranspiration methods in Beijing area of China. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage 29(5): 27-32.

- Taghvaeian, S., Chávez, J. L., and Hansen, N. C. 2012. Infrared thermometry to estimate crop water stress index and water use of irrigated maize in Northeastern Colorado. Remote Sensing 4(11): 3619-3637.
- Wallach, D. 2006. Evaluation of crop models. In: D. Wallach, D. Makowski and J.W. Jones. Working with Dynamic Crop Models: Evaluation, Analysis, Parameterization and Applications, Elsevier, Amsterdam. pp. 11–53.
- Willmott, C. J., Ackleson, S. G., Davis, R. E., Feddema, J. J., Klink, K. M., Legates, D. R., and Rowe, C. M. 1985. Statistics for the evaluation and comparison of models. Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans (1978–2012) 90(C5): 8995-9005.
- Wright, J.L., Allen, R.G., and Howell, T.A. 2000. Conversion between evapotranspiration references and methods. In: Proceedings of Fourth Decennial National Irrigation Symposium, Phoenix, AZ, ASAE, St. Joseph, MI, pp. 251–259.
- Yoder, R. E., Odhiambo, L. O., and Wright, W. C. 2005. Evaluation of methods for estimating daily reference crop evapotranspiration at a site in the humid southeast United States. Applied Engineering in Agriculture 21(2): 197-202.

Station	Location	Longitude & Latitude
CSU Agricultural		
Research Development	6 miles northeast of Fort	105° West 40 6525° North
and Education Center	Collins	105 West, 10.0525 Worth
(CSUARDEC)		
Greelev 4	1.5 miles North of Greeley	104.638° West, 40.4487°
	Airport	North
Iliff	Iliff1.5 miles East of Iliff	103.045° West, 40.7678°
		North
CSU Fruita	2 miles north east of Fruita	108.7° West, 39.1803°
Experiment	2 miles north cust of France	North
CSU Rogers Mesa	4 miles west of Hotchkiss	38.7917° West, 107.792°
Experiment	+ miles west of Hotelikiss	North
CSU Experiment	2.5 miles south east of Rocky	38.0385° West, 103.695°
Station Rocky Ford	Ford	North
CSU Yellow Jacket	2.5 miles north west of Yellow	37.5289° West, 108.724°
	Jacket	North

Table 2-1: The locations of the weather stations in Colorado which were used for comparison of ET_r calculated by the ASCE-SPM and PK equations.

Year	RE ($y_i = PK$ and x_i	RMSE	Index of	\mathbf{P}^2
	=ASCE-SPM) (%)	(mm/d)	Agreement (d)	K
		ARDEC		
2008	-4.96	0.75	0.98	0.93
2009	-5.92	0.49	0.99	0.97
2010	-8.12	0.43	0.99	0.98
2011	-5.99	0.47	0.99	0.98
		Greeley		
2008	-0.76	0.34	0.99	0.99
2009	-1.03	0.33	0.99	0.98
2010	-3.27	0.36	0.99	0.99
2011	-4.94	0.44	0.99	0.98
		<u>Iliff</u>		
2008	-3.58	0.52	0.99	0.97
2009	-0.59	0.29	0.99	0.99
2010	-3.93	0.38	0.99	0.98
2011	-4.93	0.43	0.99	0.98

Table 2-2: Statistical evaluation of the agreement of the two ETr calculations using the ASCE-SPM and PK equations at seven Colorado weather stations over four years. RE is Relative Error (%),RMSE is Root-Mean-Square Error (mm/d), d is Index of Agreement and R^2 is R squared.
Table 2-2: Statistical evaluation of the agreement of the two ETr calculations using the standardized ASCE- PM ET and the PK at seven Colorado weather stations over four years. RE is Relative Error (%),RMSE is Root-Mean-Square Error (mm/d), d is Index of Agreement and R^2 is R squared. (Continued)

Year	Relative Error of Mean (%)	RMSE (mm/d)	Index of Agreement (d)	\mathbf{R}^2		
		CSU Rocky	Ford			
2008	-5.3	0.56	0.99	0.98		
2009	-6.35	0.63	0.99	0.98		
2010	-5.31	0.54	0.99	0.98		
2011	-6.40	0.72	0.99	0.99		
		CSU Fruit	a			
2008	-3.27	0.45	0.99	0.98		
2009	-3.32	0.44	0.99	0.98		
2010	-2.44	0.41	1.00	0.98		
2011	-4.85	0.4	1.00	0.98		
CSU Rogers Mesa						
2008	1.73	0.42	0.99	0.97		
2009	2.49	0.42	0.99	0.96		
2010	1.91	0.4	0.99	0.98		
2011	0.20	0.4	0.99	0.97		
Yellow Jaket						
2008	-1.54	0.37	1.00	0.98		
2009	-2.08	0.37	0.99	0.98		
2010	-0.73	0.33	1.00	0.99		
2011	-1.81	0.37	1.00	0.99		

Table 2-3: Statistical summary of the climate input data and the daily ET_r for the seven locations 2008 – 2011. The correlation (R^2) indicates the strength of relationship between the daily ET values calculated by the standardized ASCE Penman Monteith and the Penman Kimberly equations. CSU is Colorado State University, and ARDEC is Agricultural Research Development and Education Center.

Variable	ARDEC	Greeley	Illif	CSU Fruita	CSU Rocky Ford	CSU Rogers Mesa	CSU Yellow Jacket
				2008			
Mean Temperature (Celsius)	8.71	11.71	10.29	9.46	11.06	9.21	8.14
Vapor Pressure (kPa)	0.65	0.85	0.79	0.64	0.76	0.63	0.49
Solar Radiation (MJ/m ² /d)	15.32	17.11	17.53	17.70	17.49	17.51	18.28
Sum Precipitation (millimeters)	224	218	436	139	234	174	289
Mean daily wind speed (m/s)	3.03	2.00	1.39	1.52	2.40	0.90	1.85
Mean of Relative Humidity (Fraction)	0.56	0.58	0.87	0.45	0.57	0.54	0.47
Mean ASCE-PM ETrs (mm/d)	4.39	4.34	4.62	4.38	4.91	3.60	4.22
Mean PK ETrs (mm/d)	4.17	4.31	4.45	4.23	4.65	3.66	4.15
\mathbf{R}^2	0.93	0.99	0.97	0.98	0.97	0.98	0.98
				2009			
Mean Temperature (Celsius)	9.87	10.49	12.12	9.68	10.77	9.63	8.68
Vapor Pressure (kPa)	0.75	0.91	1.06	0.66	0.78	0.63	0.50
Solar Radiation (MJ/m ² /d)	15.96	16.43	15.90	17.35	17.50	16.89	17.32
Sum Precipitation (millimeters)	285	339	223	141	262	160	194
Mean daily wind speed (m/s)	2.67	2.19	1.82	1.42	2.37	0.78	1.76
Mean of Relative Humidity (Fraction)	0.58	0.63	0.64	0.46	0.58	0.53	0.46
Mean ASCE-PM ETrs (mm/d)	3.93	4.07	4.02	4.23	4.75	3.43	4.12
Mean PK ETr (mm/d)	3.70	4.03	3.99	4.09	4.45	3.52	4.03
\mathbf{R}^2	0.97	0.98	0.99	0.98	0.96	0.98	0.98

Table 2-3: Statistical summary of the climate input data and the daily ET_r for the seven locations 2008 – 2011. The correlation (R^2) indicates the strength of relationship between the daily ET values calculated by the standardized ASCE Penman Monteith and the Penman Kimberly equations. CSU is Colorado State University, and ARDEC is Agricultural Research Development and Education Center. (Continued)

Variable	ARDEC	Greeley	Illif	CSU Fruita	CSU Rocky Ford	CSU Rogers Mesa	CSU Yellow Jacket
				2010			
Mean Temperature (Celsius)	13.20	9.20	9.79	10.03	11.61	9.95	8.24
Vapor Pressure (kPa)	0.71	0.75	0.84	0.72	0.80	0.64	0.58
Solar Radiation (MJ/m ² /d)	16.03	16.49	15.49	17.53	18.17	17.07	17.80
Sum Precipitation (millimeters)	316	235	379	206	346	309	293
Mean daily wind speed (m/s)	1.5	2.12	2.14	1.43	2.27	0.85	1.73
Mean of Relative Humidity (Fraction)	0.52	0.60	0.62	0.48	0.57	0.53	0.53
Mean ASCE-PM ETrs (mm/d)	3.65	4.03	4.00	4.19	4.96	3.63	3.95
Mean PK ETr (mm/d)	3.35	3.89	3.84	4.09	4.69	3.70	3.92
\mathbf{R}^2	0.98	0.99	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.99
				2011			
Mean Temperature (Celsius)	8.86	8.77	8.89	9.71	9.55	9.31	8.40
Vapor Pressure (kPa)	0.69	0.73	0.82	0.71	0.68	0.61	0.54
Solar Radiation (MJ/m ² /d)	16.01	16.32	15.20	17.40	18.41	17.08	18.74
Sum Precipitation (millimeters)	312	280	492	214	153	267	312
Mean daily wind speed (m/s)	2.68	2.25	2.23	1.66	12.91	0.94	1.77
Mean of Relative Humidity (Fraction)	0.57	0.59	0.62	0.46	0.59	0.51	0.49
Mean ASCE-PM ETrs (mm/d)	4.35	4.13	3.90	4.30	5.26	3.66	4.24
Mean PK ETr (mm/d)	4.09	3.93	3.71	4.09	4.93	3.66	4.16
\mathbf{R}^2	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.99	0.97	0.98	0.99



Figure 2-1: Daily reference ET (mm/d) as calculated by the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) and Penman-Kimberly (PK) equations at Agricultural Research Development and Education Center (ARDEC) and Iliff locations for 2008. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-2: A comparison of the daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm/d) as calculated by the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) and Penman-Kimberly (PK) equations at the Greeley4 and Iliff locations for 2010. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-3: A comparison of the daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm/d) as calculated by the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) and Penman-Kimberly (PK) equations at Agricultural Research Development and Education Center (ARDEC), Greeley, and Iliff locations for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-4: A comparison of the daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm/d) as calculated by the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) and Penman-Kimberly (PK) equations at Colorado State University Fruita 02, at Colorado State University Rogers Mesa for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-5: Cumulative daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm) calculated based on the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) and Penman-Kimberly (PK) equations for 2011 from the Agricultural Research Development and Education Center (ARDEC), Greeley4, and Iliff stations. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-6: Cumulative daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm) calculated based on the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) and Penman-Kimberly (PK) equations for 2011 from the Colorado State University (CSU) Experiment Rocky Ford, CSU Fruita 02 Experiment station, CSU Rogers Mesa and Yellow Jacket stations. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-7: The difference in daily reference evapotranspiration $(ET_r, mm/d)$ between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations from the Agricultural Research Development and Education Center (ARDEC) for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-8: The difference in daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm/d) between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations from the Greeley4 station for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-9: The difference in reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm/d) between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations from the Iliff station for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-10: The difference in daily reference evapotranspiration $(ET_r, mm/d)$ between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations from the CSU Experiment Rocky station for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-11: The difference in daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm/d) between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations from the CSU Fruita Experiment station for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-12: The difference in daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm/d) between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations from the Colorado State University Rogers Mesa station for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-13: The difference in daily reference evapotranspiration $(ET_r, mm/d)$ between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations from the Yellow Jacket station for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-14: A comparison of the daily energy budget term (mm/d) as calculated by the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations at the Agricultural Research Development and Education Center (ARDEC) and Colorado State University Rogers mesa stations for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-15: A comparison of the daily aerodynamic term (mm/d) as calculated by the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations at the Agricultural Research Development and Education Center (ARDEC) and Colorado State University Rogers mesa stations for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-16: The difference in daily net radiation (Rn, MJ/m²/d) as calculated by the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations at the Agricultural Research Development and Education Center (ARDEC) and Colorado State University Rogers mesa stations for 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 2-17: A comparison of the difference between daily reference evapotranspiration (ET_r , mm/d) between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations as affected by net radiation (Rn, Mj/m²/d) at CSU ARDEC and CSU Rogers mesa Stations for 2011.



Figure 2-18: A comparison of the difference between daily reference evapotranspiration $(ET_r, mm/d)$ between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations as affected by mean wind speed (u₂, m/s) at CSU ARDEC and CSU Rogers mesa Stations for 2011.



Figure 2-19: A comparison of the difference between daily reference evapotranspiration (ETr, mm/d) between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations as affected by mean actual vapor pressure (ea, kpa) at CSU ARDEC and CSU Rogers mesa Stations for 2011.



Figure 2-20: A comparison of the difference between daily reference evapotranspiration $(ET_r, mm/d)$ between the Penman-Kimberly (PK) and the American Society of Civil Engineers Standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equations as affected by mean relative humidity at CSU ARDEC and CSU Rogers mesa Stations for 2011.

CHAPTER THREE: EFFECTIVE SURFACE AREA CORRECTIONS FOR ALFALFA REFERENCE EVAPOTRANSPIRATION FROM A WEIGHING LYSIMETER

Overview

Evapotranspiration (ET) can be measured in the field using a lysimeter, which measures the actual ET through the changes in mass of a soil monolith supporting an actively growing crop. Alfalfa reference (ET_r) can be calculated using the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) standardized Penman-Monteith equation (Allen et al., 2005) and climate data from a local weather station. This study compared alfalfa ET measured by a lysimeter (nominal 3 m \times 3 m x 2.4 m) in the center of a 4.06 ha furrow-irrigated field at the Arkansas Valley Research Center in Rocky Ford, CO to the calculated values from the ASCE standardized Penman-Monteith equation in periods of reference conditions. Four days were selected when alfalfa in the lysimeter was 50 - 55 cm tall, unstressed, completely covering the ground, but with its canopy extending beyond the outer walls of the lysimeter. Climate data from CoAgMet was used to calculate ET_r by the ASCE standardized Penman-Monteith equation. Comparisons of hourly ET between the calculated ET_r using the ASCE standardized Penman-Monteith equation and ET_r measured by the lysimeter were performed. The first comparison was without any adjustments in the lysimeter ET_r where the Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE, mm/h) was 0.08 on 9/16/2010, 0.11 on 9/23/2010, 0.10 on 10/1/2010 and on 0.08 on 10/12/2010. The Index of Agreement (d) between lysimeter and ASCE standardized ET_r was 0.98 on 9/16/2010 and 9/23/2010, 0.97 on 10/1/2010, and 0.96 on 10/12/2010. This same comparison was done using lysimeter ET_r corrected for the effective canopy area to account for overgrowth of the alfalfa beyond the

lysimeter's 3.03 m x 3.03 m surface dimensions; the evaporative area increased from 9.181 m² up 12.461 m² on 10/12/2010. The RMSE (mm) between the hourly corrected lysimeter ET_r and the ASCE standardized ET was reduced to 0.05 in 9/16/2010, 0.04 on 9/23/2010, 0.05 on 10/1/2010 and 0.03 on 10/12/2010. The d values for this comparison were improved to 0.99 on 9/16/2010, 1.00 on 9/23/2010 and 0.99 on both 10/1/2010 and 10/12/2010. These results showed that it is important to use the correct effective canopy area when computing ET_r from a weighing lysimeter.

Introduction

Evapotranspiration (ET) represents the amount of water that evaporates from the soil and plant surfaces and the transpiration from plants (Zhang et al., 2001). Calculating ET plays an important role in estimating crop water requirements. Consumption of water increases with increasing ET in plants (Zhang and Oweis, 1999). Evapotranspiration is affected by climate factors such as solar radiation, wind speed, vapor pressure, relative humidity and temperature (Ephrath et al., 1996). Because these climate factors cannot be controlled in the field, irrigation scheduling is used to apply the amount of water that is needed and helps to regulate ET in the field (Burt et al., 1997). Therefore, the goal of irrigation scheduling is to supply the amount of water that plants need for physiological processing and optimal growth (Majumdar, 2004). Evapotranspiration can be measured in the field by using a water balance equation, but this approach requires data that is difficult to measure such as deep percolation and runoff (Duan and Fedler, 2009). The water balance equation is as follows:

$$ET_{c} = Irr + P - D - RO \pm \Delta SWC$$
(1)

where ET_{c} is crop ET (mm), Irr is irrigation (mm), P is precipitation (mm), D is deep percolation (mm), RO is runoff (mm), and Δ SWC is the change in soil water content as measured by mass changes in soil samples from the field (mm) (Sudheer et al., 2003).

Evapotranspiration can also be measured in the field using a lysimeter which measures the actual ET_c through the difference in mass of a lysimeter over time (Sudheer et al., 2003). Specifically, it measures how much water has been lost since the previous measurement.

A lysimeter can have various shapes and selecting the appropriate one depends on which plants are to be evaluated for ET (Allen et al., 1992). For example, two lysimeters have been installed at Rocky Ford, Colorado. The size of the larger lysimeter is 3 m × 3 m x 2.4 m, and the size of the smaller lysimeter is 1.5 m x 1.5 m x 2.4 m (Al Wahaibi, 2011). The lysimeter tanks were filled using undisturbed soil from the site where they were installed, and then alfalfa was planted in the lysimeters (Andales et al., 2010). Evapotranspiration can be measured by scale-load cell (mV/V output; 0.02% standard deviation). One unit of load cell output (1 mV/V) is equivalent to 74.58 mm of water (Andales, personal communication). Thus, the changes in load cell output are multiplied by 74.58 to calculate the amount of water that is lost via drainage or ET and the amounts of water that are added through precipitation or irrigation (Hickman, 2011). Two drainage tanks were placed under the scale to measure drainage from the lysimeter (Andales et al., 2010).

Alfalfa reference crop ET_{r} can be calculated using available climate data from a weather station in the field or the closest station to the field within a 100 square kilometer area that would normally be covered by a weather station (Smith, 2000). Many equations can be used to calculate the ET_{r} based on climate data (Allen et al., 2005). In Colorado the two equations used for calculating ET_{r} in the Colorado Agriculture Meteorological Network (CoAgMet; <u>www.coagmet.com</u>) are the ASCE standardized Penman-Monteith and Penman-Kimberly equations (Al Wahaibi, 2011). CoAgMet is the Colorado agricultural meteorological network. It provides hourly and daily weather data and calculated reference ET online every day for more than 60 automated weather stations located throughout Colorado (Andales et al., 2009a).

In 1999 the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) and Environmental and Water Resources Institute (EWRI) suggested one standardized equation at the request of the Irrigation Association in Virginia (Walter et al., 2000). They worked from the FAO-56 Penman-Monteith (Allen et al., 2005) until they reached the final form that can calculate hourly and daily reference ET for a short crop like grass and a tall crop like alfalfa (Allen et al. 2005). This new equation was named the ASCE standardized reference ET equation. Use of this equation to calculate reference ET depends on the availability of weather data (Temesgen et al., 2005).

Alfalfa was recommended as a reference crop because it has a leaf area and height similar to most crops and has larger aerodynamic and surface conductance values than grass (Pereira et al., 1999). If using alfalfa as the reference crop, it should be grown under ideal well watered conditions and have 30 to 50 cm of top growth and no exposure to any kind of stress (Yoder et al., 2005). In Colorado, alfalfa has historically been used as the reference crop for estimating crop ET.

Al Wahaibi (2011) found that daily measured ET_{r} from a lysimeter and calculated ET_{r} from the ASCE standardized equation showed good agreement with the Index of Agreement ranging from 0.82 to 0.97 from a 2008 to 2010 study using 50 cm tall alfalfa under no stress. There was good correlation between ET measured with a weighing lysimeter and ET from the FAO-56 Penman–Monteith equation, while ET from the FAO-24 Penman, Hargreaves–Samani,

49

and Priestly–Taylor equations overestimated ET (Yoder et al., 2005). In addition, a study performed by Lopez-Urrea et al. (2006) showed that the mean ET from the ASCE Penman–Monteith equation was 4% higher than the mean ET from a measured lysimeter. Also, the calculated hourly ET from the FAO-56 Penman–Monteith equation was more accurate than the ASCE Penman–Monteith method under Albacete, Spain weather conditions. Andales et al. (2009b) reported that for the 2008 season the daily calculated ET_r from the ASCE standardized Penman-Monteith equation was less than the measured ET_r from a lysimeter in the Arkansas Valley of Colorado (Andales et al., 2009b).

Using the correct surface area is important when the plant canopy extends beyond the boundaries of the lysimeter. Extension beyond lysimeter boundaries increases evaporation energy via solar radiation interception, and then consumption of water increases. In addition, the problem was observed in Rocky Ford that alfalfa extended outside the lysimeter boundary, which affected the accuracy of ET measurement by the lysimeter. In other words, the problem occurred where the alfalfa canopy inside the lysimeter was leaning outward due to the "bloom effect" (Allen et al., 2011). Allen et al. (2011) defined the bloom effect as "the area of exposed plant canopy has exceeded the assumed effective area of the lysimeter."

The objectives of this study were:

- 1- To quantify the effects of alfalfa overgrowth on measured reference ET from a precision weighing lysimeter during the 2010 season in the Arkansas Valley of Colorado (Rocky Ford, Colorado).
- 2- To correct the measured alfalfa ET from the lysimeter to account for effects of overgrowth.

Materials and Methods

Location of lysimeter

A weighing lysimeter was installed in 2006 at the Arkansas Valley Research Center in Rocky Ford which is in southeast Colorado (latitude 38° 2' 17.30", longitude 103° 41' 17.60", altitude 1,274 m above sea level). The location of the lysimeter was in the center of a field (159 m x 256 m), and this field was surrounded by 22 ha of irrigated land and planted with different crops such as corn, canola, oats and vegetables. The field in which the lysimeter is installed is surrounded by 7 m wide dirt roads on three sides. The CSU Rocky Ford Experiment Station is located at the CSU Arkansas Valley Research Center which is 4 km south east of Rocky Ford, Colorado.

Lysimeter design

The lysimeter is composed of an inner tank (container box) with dimensions of 3m x 3m x 2.4m deep and an outer tank in which the inner tank is placed. The enclosed space between the two tanks houses the weighing mechanism, drainage system, load cells, data logger and standing room for about 6 people. The weighing mechanism consists of a mechanical lever scale-load cell combination with a 100:1 mechanical advantage. The lysimeter installation and calibration was finished in 2006 (Andales et al., 2009b). The alfalfa grown on the lysimeter was irrigated by furrow irrigation. The scheduling of irrigation was dependent on the soil water content, determined volumetrically. The soil water content was measured weekly by neutron probe and gravimetrically to know the availability of water for plants to meet the total water requirement. Both methods were used to get soil water content measurements. The neutron probe was used to

measure soil water content at 10 depths from 10 cm to 190 cm, at 20 cm increments. Irrigations were applied when soil water depletions approached 50% of the available water content between field capacity and wilting point.

Measured evapotranspiration from lysimeter

This study focused on alfalfa ET only at the reference stage (50 - 55 cm canopy height) for each cutting cycle when the canopy was observed to extend beyond the walls of the lysimeter and when there were no precipitation, irrigation, or drainage events. Four days during the 2010 season were identified that met these criteria: 9/16/2010, 9/23/2010, 10/1/2010 and 10/12/2010. For each date, canopy extension beyond the walls of the lysimeter was measured by taking the average horizontal measurement of alfalfa extending from the four sides of the lysimeter (Al Wahaibi, 2011).

The load cell readings of the lysimeter were taken every 2 seconds and were averaged in 15-minute intervals (450 readings per 15 minutes) to filter out the noise that may be caused by wind. This was consistent with recommendations of Howell et al. (1995). The difference between average load cell readings (mV/V) centered around the beginning and end of each 15-minute increment were multiplied by 74.58 mm/(mV/V). The 74.58 coefficient to convert load cell readings to equivalent mm of water was based on the 2011 calibration using Colorado State certified weights assuming a water density of 1000 kg/m3 (Andales, personal communication). Hourly ET was then obtained by summing the four 15-minute ET values for each hour.

The ASCE standardized reference ET equation

The ASCE standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equation was used to calculate theoretical alfalfa reference ET, symbolized by ET_{rs} . The ET_{rs} values on the four selected dates were deemed as good baselines for comparison with the lysimeter ET_r , since they represented potential alfalfa ET rates under the given weather conditions.

The ASCE-SPM reference ET equation is:

$$ET_{rs} = \frac{0.408 \,\Delta (R_n - G) + \gamma \frac{C_n}{T + 273} u_2(e_s - e_a)}{\Delta + \gamma (1 + C_d u_2)}$$
Eq. (2)

where ET_{rs} is the standardized reference crop ET for tall surfaces with a height of 50 cm such as alfalfa (mm/h); the units for the 0.408 coefficient are m² mm/MJ; Δ is the slope of the saturation vapor pressure temperature curve (kPa/°C); R_n is the calculated net radiation at the crop surface (MJ/m²/h); G is the soil heat flux density at the soil surface (MJ/m²/h); γ is a psychrometric constant (kPa/°C); C_n is the numerator constant that changes with reference type and calculation time step (K mm s³/Mg/h or K mm s³/Mg/d); T is the mean hourly air temperature in °C at 1.5 to 2.5m height; u₂ is the mean hourly wind speed at 2-m height (m/s); e_s is the saturation vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5-m height (kPa); e_a is the mean actual vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5-m height (kPa); e_a is the mean actual vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5-m height (kPa); e_a is the mean actual vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5-m height (kPa); e_a is the mean actual vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5-m height (kPa); e_a is the mean actual vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5-m height (kPa); and C_d is a denominator constant that changes with reference type and calculation time step (s/m). Hourly daytime and nighttime C_n = 66 (K mm s³/Mg/h), and hourly daytime C_d = 0.25 (s/m) and hourly nighttime C_d = 1.7 (s/m).

Hourly weather data from CoAgMet's Rocky Ford, Colorado weather station was used in the Ref-ET computer program (Allen, 2000). The hourly weather data included mean temperature ($^{\circ}$ C), vapor pressure (kPa), solar radiation (MJm⁻²), mean wind speed (m/s), and mean relative humidity (%). The Ref-ET program includes 15 methods of calculating ET_r including the ASCE-SPM equation. Hourly calculated ET_{rs} from the ACSE-SPM equation was then compared to the hourly measured ET_r from the lysimeter on the 4 selected dates to quantify the effect of alfalfa overgrowth on lysimeter ET_r.

Lysimeter evapotranspiration corrections

Comparisons between lysimeter ET_r and calculated ET_{rs} indicated that the ET_r from the lysimeter was affected by the alfalfa canopy extension beyond the lysimeter's 3.03 m x 3.03 m effective surface dimensions, extending at times up to 3.53 m x 3.53 m. For example, the average evaporative area increased from 9.181 m² to 12.461 m² on 10/12/2010 (Table 3-1).

The theoretical effective surface area of the lysimeter was measured up to the midpoint of the rubber seals separating the monolith interior wall from the external retainer wall (i.e. middle of the gap). That is because the canopy inside the monolith intersected with the canopy outside the monolith at the mid-point of the gap, assuming crop growth was the same inside and outside of the lysimeter. The distance between the interior wall and mid-point of the gap was 0.015 m. Therefore, the effective surface area is

$$\left[3.0m + 0.015 \frac{m}{side} * 2 \, sides\right]^2 = 9.181 \, \text{m}^2 \qquad \text{Eq. (3)}$$

To correct for the alfalfa overgrowth, the measured lysimeter ET_r values were divided by the correction ratio (Corrected lysimeter ET= uncorrected ET/ correction ratio) that came from dividing the effective canopy surface area by the lysimeter area (Table 3-1). The lysimeter surface area is always 9.181 m² because there is no change in the actual area of the lysimeter, but alfalfa extension outside the actual area was measured on each date so that the correction ratio could be specifically calculated for each date.

Statistical analysis

Microsoft Office Excel was used to compare ASCE-SPM ET_{rs} and lysimeter ET_{r} values. Hourly reference ET using the ASCE-SPM equation was calculated by the Ref-ET program. The hourly climatic data obtained from CoAgMet for four days were transferred into Excel and then used by the Ref-ET program.

The sum, average, minimum, maximum, standard deviation, and R^2 were used to compare the ASCE-SPM equation to the lysimeter results. In addition, the results were evaluated with the Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE), where a small RMSE value indicates good performance (Jacovides and Kontoyiannis, 1995; Wallach, 2006). However, RMSE is not a good indication for over or under estimation of a model (Jacovides and Kontoyiannis, 1995). Another indicator used to measure the performance of a model is the index of agreement (d) (Harmel and Smith, 2007). It ranges between one and zero, where 1 represents an excellent agreement and 0 represents a poor agreement. For evaluation of the agreement between ASCE-SPM equation compared to the lysimeter, ET values and its R^2 were determined at the CSU Experiment Station at Rocky Ford for the four days. Additional statistics used for evaluating agreement were Relative Error (RE) and the Nash-Sutcliffe Efficiency Index (E). The statistics were calculated using the following formulas:

Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE) was calculated as follows:

RMSE =
$$\left(1/N\sum_{i=1}^{N}(y_i - x_i)^2\right)^{1/2}$$
 Eq. (4)

where N is the total number of observations, y_i is the calculated ASCE-SPM ET_{rs}, and x_i is the measured lysimeter ET_r (Willmott and Matsuura, 2005).

Relative Error (**RE**) values can be positive or negative values and represent a percentage of the errors relative to the observed mean, where a positive value expresses the percentage of overestimation and a negative value expresses the percentage of under-estimation. Relative Error (**RE**) was calculated as follows:

$$RE = \left(\frac{Y - X}{X}\right) \times 100 \qquad Eq. (5)$$

where y is the mean calculated ASCE-SPM ET_{rS} and x is the mean measured lysimeter ET_r (Al Wahaibi, 2011).

Index of Agreement (d) is a value between one and zero, where 1 indicates a perfect agreement and 0 indicates a poor agreement. The Index of Agreement (d) represents how strong the relationships between two factors are by matching the points of the data from the two factors (Legates and McCabe, 1999). This was calculated as follows:

$$d = 1 - \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (y_i - x_i)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (|y_i'| - |x_i'|)^2}\right)$$
Eq. (6)

where: $y'_i = y_i - \overline{x}$ and $x'_i = x_i - \overline{x}$, y_i is the calculated ASCE-SPM ET_{rS}; x_i is the measured lysimeter ET_r, and \overline{x} is the mean measured value (Willmott, 1981).

Nash and Sutcliffe (E) is often referred to as the efficiency index. The efficiency index can be positive or negative and is a value between $-\infty$ and +1, where 1 indicates a perfect agreement and negative values indicate a poor agreement and nonlinear relationships.

$$E = 1 - \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (\bar{Y}_{i} - Y_{i})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (y_{i} - \bar{Y})^{2}}\right)$$
Eq. (7)

where Y_1 and Y_i are predicted (ASCE-SPM) and measured (lysimeter) values of the criterion dependent variable Y (i.e., ET_r). \overline{Y} is the mean of the measured values of Y, N= is sample size, and $y_i = is$ the observed lysimeter ET_r .

Results and Discussion

The calculated hourly ET_{rs} from the ASCE-SPM equation was compared with both the uncorrected and corrected hourly measured ET_r from the weighing lysimeter located in the Arkansas Valley of Colorado in Rocky Ford, Colorado for the season 2010. Table 3-2 shows the average weather conditions for the four specific observation days of alfalfa as reference plant.

The comparison between hourly ET_{r} from the lysimeter and ASCE-SPM ET_{rs} was specific for the four days when there was alfalfa overgrowth beyond the lysimeter area and after effective canopy area was corrected. The other days were ignored because alfalfa height was either below 50 cm or above 55 cm, and the field measurements of overgrowth were not made.

Table 3-3 shows the relation between hourly ET_{rs} from the ASCE-SPM equation and hourly ET_r from the lysimeter for the same four days. The hourly ET_r values from the lysimeter were found to be significantly higher than ET_{rs} , because alfalfa grew beyond the lysimeter area. Alfalfa extended beyond the edge of the lysimeter due to soil compaction around the outside edge of the lysimeter leading to stunted alfalfa. The soil compaction was a result of soil settling after construction and possibly foot traffic during data collection, lysimeter maintenance and harvesting events. The subsequent correction considered the effective surface area including the alfalfa extending beyond the lysimeter boundary.

Before the correction, the Relative Error of Mean was showing an over-estimation of the lysimeter ET_{r} compared to the ASCE-SPM equation. After the adjustment for the effective canopy area, the Relative Error of Mean was reduced significantly on all four days. Also, the RMSE was higher before the adjustment than after the adjustment which means there was an improvement due to the adjustment. The d values showed nearly perfect agreement between lysimeter ET_{r} and ASCE-SPM ET_{rs} after the adjustment in all four days. The efficiency index (E) also showed an improvement after the adjustment. Overall, the area adjustment reduced RE and RMSE and increased d and E on all four dates.

Figures 3-1 to 3-4 show the comparisons between the hourly measured ET_r from the lysimeter to ET_r values calculated from the ASCE-SPM equation for the four selected days. In

each figure, the first graph (a) shows a clear difference between the time series of hourly ET_r measured from the lysimeter before and after making the corrections in effective canopy surface area. The ET_r values from the lysimeter before the adjustment were always higher due to the increased area of the alfalfa extending beyond the dimensions of the lysimeter, whereas the corrected ET shows better agreement with the ASCE-SPM ET_{rs} .

The second graph (b) in each figure shows the linear relationship between uncorrected ET_r from the lysimeter and ASCE-SPM ET_{rs} . The ET_{rs} values were below the 1:1 line and indicated that they were generally lower than the lysimeter ET_r values. The third graph (c) in each figure shows the relation between the corrected ET_r from the lysimeter compared to ET_{rs} from ASCE-SPM equation, with data points closer to the 1:1 line indicating better agreement.

Measuring hourly reference ET was done for alfalfa at 50 cm height on the first day and 55 cm on the next three days (Table 3-3). When measuring reference ET for alfalfa in the field, alfalfa should be at reference stage and not under any sort of stress such as water stress, salt stress or weather stress, which affect an accurate hourly ET_r at this stage of plant life.

These results indicate that the ASCE-SPM equation can be used to identify systematic biases in lysimeter ET_r when the alfalfa crop is at reference conditions. When there is alfalfa overgrowth, disagreement between lysimeter ET_r and ASCE-SPM ET_{rs} could be explained by the additional ET from the canopy that extends beyond the lysimeter boundaries. The accuracy of the measured hourly ET_r from the lysimeter can be improved by making corrections in the effective canopy surface area. It is possible that building barriers or a fence to prevent plants from extending outside the lysimeter boundaries can reduce this source of error.

Conclusion

The study showed differences between ET_r measured from the lysimeter and ET_{rs} calculated from the ASCE-SPM equation. The values of the measured ET_r from the lysimeter were higher than the ASCE-SPM calculated values when there was alfalfa overgrowth beyond the lysimeter boundaries. The canopy surface area adjustments reduced the differences between measured hourly ET_r from the lysimeter and the calculated hourly ET_{rs} values from the ASCE-SPM equation. Over-estimated lysimeter ET_r can affect the crop coefficient (K_{cr}) values derived from this data. K_{cr} would be under-estimated if ET_r was over-estimated. Correcting the measurement of alfalfa ET_r from the lysimeter through accounting for effects of alfalfa overgrowth can lead to improved estimation of ET_r and corresponding K_{cr} values.

References

- Al Wahaibi, H. S. 2011. Evaluating the ASCE Standardized Penman-Monteith Equation and Developing Crop Coefficients of Alfalfa Using a Weighing Lysimeter in Southeast Colorado. Doctoral dissertation, Colorado State University. Fort Collins.
- Allen Jr, L. H., Drake, B. G., Rogers, H. H. and Shinn, J. H. 1992. Field techniques for exposure of plants and ecosystems to elevated CO2 and other trace gases. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 11(2-3): 85-119.
- Allen, R. G. 2000. REF-ET: Reference evapotranspiration calculator, Version 2.1. Idaho: Idaho University.
- Allen, R. G., Walter, I. A., Elliot, R., Howell, T., Itenfisu, D., and Jensen, M. 2005. The ASCE standardized reference evapotranspiration equation. American Society of Civil Engineers Environmental and Water Resource Institute (ASCE-EWRI). 59 pp.
- Allen, R.G., Pereira, L.S., Howell, T.A., and Jensen, M.E. 2011. Evapotranspiration information reporting: I. Factors governing measurement accuracy. Agricultural Water Management 98: 899-920.
- Andales, A. A., Bauder, T. A., and Doesken, N. J. 2009a. The Colorado Agriculture Meterological Network (CoAgMet) and Crop ET Reports Fact Sheet no. 4.723, Colorado State University Extension, Fort Collins, CO 5P.
- Andales, A., Straw, D., Ley, T. and Berrada, A. 2009b. Alfalfa reference ET from a weighing lysimeter and estimates from the ASCE Standardized Reference ET Equation in the Arkansas Valley of Colorado. In World Environmental and Water Resources Congress 2009 Great Rivers (pp. 1-9). ASCE.
- Andales, A.A., Simmons, L.H., Bartolo, M.E., Straw, D., Chávez, J.L., Ley, T.W., AlWahaibi, H.S. 2010. Alfalfa ET from a weighing lysimeter in the Arkansas Valley of Colorado. In: Proceedings of the 5th National Decennial Irrigation Conference (Dukes, M.). Phoenix, AZ. 5-8 December 2010. American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, St. Joseph, MI.
- Burt, C. M., Clemmens, A. J., Strelkoff, T. S., Solomon, K. H., Bliesner, R. D., Hardy, L. A. and Eisenhauer, D. E. 1997. Irrigation performance measures: efficiency and uniformity. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 123(6): 423-442.
- Duan, R. and Fedler, C. B. 2009. Field study of water mass balance in a wastewater land application system. Irrigation Science 27(5): 409-416.
- Ephrath, J. E., Goudriaan, J. and Marani, A. 1996. Modelling diurnal patterns of air temperature, radiation wind speed and relative humidity by equations from daily characteristics. Agricultural Systems 51(4): 377-393.

- Harmel, R.D. and Smith, P.K. 2007. Consideration of measurement uncertainty in the evaluation of goodness-of-fit in hydrologic and water quality modeling. J. Hydrol 337: 326–336.
- Hickman Jr, J. M. 2011. Evaluating the Role of Evapotranspiration in the Hydrology of Bioinfiltration and Bioretention Basins Using Weighing Lysimeters (Doctoral dissertation, Villanova University).
- Howell, T.A., Schneider, A.D., Dusek, D.A., Marek, T.H., and Steiner, J.L. 1995. Calibration and scale performance of Bushland weighing lysimeters. Trans. ASAE 38(4): 1019-1024.
- Jacovides, C.P. and Kontoyiannis, H. 1995. Statistical procedures for the evaluation of evapotranspiration computing models. Agricultural Water Management 27: 365-371.
- Legates, D.R., and McCabe, G.J. 1999. Evaluating the use of "goodness of fit" measures in hydrologic and hydroclimatic model validation.Water Resources Research 35: 233–241.
- Lopez-Urrea, R., Olalla, F., Fabeiro, C. and Moratalla, A. 2006. An evaluation of two hourly reference evapotranspiration equations for semiarid conditions. Agricultural Water Management 86(3): 277-282.
- Majumdar, D. K. 2004. Irrigation water management: principles and practice. PHI Learning Pvt. Ltd.
- Pereira, L. S., Perrier, A., Allen, R. G. and Alves, I. 1999. Evapotranspiration: concepts and future trends. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 125(2): 45-51.
- Smith, M. 2000. The application of climatic data for planning and management of sustainable rainfed and irrigated crop production. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 103(1): 99-108.
- Sudheer, K. P., Gosain, A. K. and Ramasastri, K. S. 2003. Estimating actual evapotranspiration from limited climatic data using neural computing technique. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 129(3): 214-218.
- Temesgen, B., Eching, S., Davidoff, B. and Frame, K. 2005. Comparison of some reference evapotranspiration equations for California. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 131(1): 73-84.
- Wallach D. 2006 . Evaluation of crop models. In: D. Wallach, D. Makowski and J.W. Jones. Working with Dynamic; Crop Models. Evaluation, Analysis, Parameterization and Applications, Elsevier, Amsterdam. pp. 11–53.
- Walter, I. A., Allen, R. G. ., R. Elliott, M. E. Jensen, D. Itenfisu, B. Mecham, T. A. Howell, R. Snyder, P. Brown, S. Eching, T. Spofford, M. Hattendorf, R. H. Cuenca, J. L. Wright and

D. Martin. 2000. "ASCE's Standardized Reference Evapotranspiration Equation." Proc., 4th National Irrig. Symp., ASAE, Phoenix, AZ.

- Willmott, C. J. and Matsuura, K. 2005. Advantages of the mean absolute error (MAE) over the root mean square error (RMSE) in assessing average model performance. Climate Research 30(1): 79.
- Willmott, C., 1981. On the validation of models. Physical Geography 2: 183-194.
- Yoder, R. E., Odhiambo, L. O. and Wright, W. C. 2005. Effects of vapor-pressure deficit and net-irradiance calculation methods on accuracy of standardized Penman-Monteith equation in a humid climate. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 131(3): 228-237.
- Zhang, H. and Oweis, T. 1999. Water–yield relations and optimal irrigation scheduling of wheat in the Mediterranean region. Agricultural Water Management 38(3): 195-211.
- Zhang, L., Dawes, W. R. and Walker, G. R. 2001. Response of mean annual evapotranspiration to vegetation changes at catchment scale. Water Resources Research 37(3): 701-708.

Table 3-1: Lysimeter surface area (m^2) , alfalfa effective canopy area (m^2) and correction ratio (Canopy area, m^2 / Lysimeter Area, m^2) used to correct measured lysimeter ET_r values for four days in 2010.

Date	Lysimeter Area, m ²	Canopy area, m ²	Correction ratio
9/16/2010	9.181	11.089	1.208
9/23/2010	9.181	11.765	1.281
10/1/2010	9.181	12.461	1.357
10/12/2010	9.181	12.461	1.357

Table 3-2: Average temperature (Celsius), relative humidity (Fraction), vapor pressure (kPa), total solar radiation $(kJ/m^2 * min)$, and wind speed (m/s) data for four days in 2010.

Date	Average Temperature (Celsius)	Average Relative Humidity (Fraction)	Average Vapor Pressure (kPa)	Total Solar Radiation (kJ/m ² * min)	Average Wind Speed (m/s)
9/16/2010	20.93	0.51	1.20	366.31	1.78
9/23/2010	20.65	0.60	1.30	343.82	1.63
10/1/2010	17.18	0.50	0.93	307.14	1.41
10/12/2010	9.15	0.69	0.79	219.51	1.97

	Plant	Hourly ET _r before	Hourly ET _r after
	Height	adjustments	adjustments
		9/16/2010	
Relative Error of Mean (%)		27.07	3.14
RMSE		0.08	0.05
Index of Agreement (d)	50cm	0.98	0.99
Nash-Suttcliffe E		0.92	0.97
No. Obs.		24	24
		9/23/2010	
Relative Error of Mean (%)		26.38	-3.32
RMSE		0.11	0.04
Index of Agreement (d)	55cm	0.98	1
Nash-Suttcliffe E		0.90	0.99
No. Obs.		24	24
		10/1/2010	
Relative Error of Mean (%)		43.5	3.64
RMSE		0.10	0.05
Index of Agreement (d)	55cm	0.97	0.99
Nash-Suttcliffe E		0.84	0.96
No. Obs.		24	24
		10/12/2010	
Relative Error of Mean (%)		43.62	3.73
RMSE		0.08	0.03
Index of Agreement (d)	55cm	0.96	0.99
Nash-Suttcliffe E		0.81	0.98
No. Obs.		24	24

Table 3-3: Statistical evaluation of the agreement between the ASCE-SPM ET_{rs} and ET_{r} measured with a lysimeter at the CSU Experiment Station in Rocky Ford for four days in 2010.


Figure 3-1: 3-1-a shows the difference between hourly calculated ET_{rs} from the standardized ASCE Penman-Monteith equation compared with measured ET_r from the lysimeter for 9/16/2010 before and after correcting for canopy area. 3-1-b and 3-1-c show the agreement between ET_r from ASCE-SPM compared with measured ET_r from the lysimeter before and after correcting for effective canopy area.



Figure 3-2: 3-2-a shows the difference between calculated ET_{rs} from the standardized ASCE Penman-Monteith equation compared with measured ET_r from the lysimeter for 9/23/2010 before and after correcting for canopy area. 3-2-b and 3-2-c show the difference between ET_r from ASCE-SPM compared with measured ET_r from the lysimeter before and after correcting for canopy area.



Figure 3-3: 3-3-a shows the difference between calculated ET_{rs} from the standardized ASCE Penman-Monteith equation compared with measured ET_r from the lysimeter for 10/1/2010 before and after correcting for canopy area. 3-3-b and 3-3-c show the difference between ET_r from ASCE-PM compared with measured ET_r from the lysimeter before and after correcting for canopy area.



Figure 3-4: 3-4-a shows the difference between calculated ET_{rs} from the standardized ASCE Penman-Monteith equation compared with measured ET_r from the lysimeter for 10/12/2010 before and after correcting for canopy area. 3-4-b and 3-4-c show the difference between ET_r from ASCE-PM compared with measured ET_r from the lysimeter before and after correcting for canopy area.

CHAPTER FOUR: EVALUATION OF COLORADO IRRIGATION SCHEDULER (CIS) FOR FURROW IRRIGATED CORN IN NORTHEAST COLORADO

Overview

Improved irrigation application efficiency depends on irrigation scheduling that specifies when and how much to irrigate. Efficient irrigation entails applying only enough water to meet the crop's evapotranspiration (ET) requirement. Crop water requirements are the foundation of irrigation scheduling. Excessive irrigation could lead to negative impacts on soil, crops and the environment. A local irrigation scheduling tool that keeps track of the soil water balance and required irrigation amounts throughout the growing season can help irrigators keep track of water requirements and make more efficient use of their limited water supplies. The objectives of this study were to: (1) field test and evaluate the accuracy of an irrigation scheduling spreadsheet tool for calculating soil water deficits (D_c) in a furrow-irrigated corn (Zea mays L) field located near Greeley, Colorado and (2) determine the effect of frequency of mid-season corrections of D_c on the accuracy of the irrigation scheduler. A corn crop was grown for three seasons (2010 -2012) in rows spaced 76 cm apart. Daily weather data from an automatic weather station located 143.9 m from the field were used to calculate ET and effective precipitation in the irrigation scheduler. Root zone soil water status was monitored using gravimetric and volumetric measurements. The irrigation scheduling spreadsheet tool developed in Visual Basic for Applications was designed to calculate daily D_c by water balance of the managed root zone. The results showed good agreement between calculated and measured deficits where index of

agreement (d) was near 0.5 or above for most years of this study, specifically when measurements of soil water content (SWC) were inserted bi-weekly or monthly. Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE) did not exceed 2.54 mm when using SWC once per season in 2011, while inputting bi-weekly measurements resulted in d values of 0.96 in 2010, 0.99 in 2011 and 0.70 in 2012. Also, the CIS showed that amounts of irrigation water used during the years of study could be reduced by 30 to 50% through use of CIS.

Introduction

Irrigation management tools provide information to irrigators in readily usable form for making appropriate decisions on timing and amounts of irrigation (Callan et al., 2004). Irrigation scheduling depends on answering the two main questions of when and how much water to apply to the crops. Irrigation scheduling is an important management tool because it is used to increase the efficiency of water usage and reduce runoff and deep percolation during the irrigation season (Pereira et al., 2002). Knowledge of crop water requirements is fundamental to irrigation scheduling. Excessive irrigation which exceeds crop water requirement can lead to negative impacts on soil, crops and the environment (Stockle, 2001). Over irrigation can have a negative effect on root respiration (Maier and Kress, 2000), and it also contributes to rising water tables, which ascend to the surface by capillary action (Sophocleous, 2002). This is one of the main causes of soil salinity (Rengasamy, 2006). Deep percolation is the result of heavy irrigation and can lead to groundwater pollution by leaching chemical nutrients beyond the root zone (Mmolawa and Or, 2000). In addition to that, excessive irrigation can lead to an increase in the amount of runoff, and this has a significant impact on soil erosion, which also has a negative effect on the soil environment (Pimentel, 2006).

On the other hand, reducing irrigation below the crop requirements subjects plants to water stress which has a negative impact on plant productivity (Ko and Piccinni, 2009). If the stress continues for a certain period, and depending on the type of plant and its resistance to drought, the type of soil and its ability to retain water, the plants eventually reach a permanent wilting point (Ehlers and Goss, 2003).

To achieve an efficient balance between over watering and under watering plants in the field, the following two questions must be answered: how much and how often should the field be irrigated (Pereira et al., 2002). Crop water requirement is defined as the amount of water that needs to be added to meet ET needs (English et al., 2002). ET includes both the evaporation from the soil and plant surfaces and the transpiration from the plant (FAO, 2009). ET can be measured using lysimeters or indirect methods or calculated using reference ET equations. The FAO Penman Monteith equation for short grass and the ASCE standardized Penman Monteith equations to calculate reference ET (FAO, 2009). Crop ET can be determined by multiplying reference ET by the crop coefficient (Ko and Piccinni, 2009).

Water requirements depend on the ET rate (Allen et al., 1998). The quantity of water used for the synthesis of plant tissue is less than 1% of the water absorbed, and the rest is lost by ET and is not included in the processes of growth (Jensen, 1968). When considering the total amount of water needed by plants, it is very important to estimate the amount of irrigation water which is required for the different roles in plant life, especially the critical ones (Oweis et al., 1999).

Crop ET is the consumption of water by plants as a result of their physiological traits. The amount of water plants need depends on the growth stage of the plants. ET increases through the

growth stages, and some of this water can be kept in plant cells, while other water goes to the atmosphere through the plant (Cattivelli et al., 2008).

Before using a reference ET equation to calculate crop water requirements, it has been recommended that the equation be tested under the local climate and soil conditions (Gavilán et al., 2006). Using an untested American Society of Civil Engineers Penman Monteith (ASCE-SPM) equation under Colorado conditions could lead to an inaccurate estimation of crop water requirement.

Agricultural products rank high in importance in the state of Colorado. The South Platte River provides around 12 percent of the state's supply (Thorvaldsen and Pritchett, 2005), and is one of the water resources used most intensively in Colorado (Watson et al., 2011). Needless to say, agricultural land needs a lot of water for irrigation. Since water is one of the production inputs, reducing irrigation costs will increase the profitability of farming operations (FAO, 1993).

In Colorado, the ASCE-SPM equation of the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) is being adopted to determine reference ET (Al Wahaibi, 2011). For example, the United States Supreme Court recommended the use of the ASCE-SPM equation to calculate ET for subsequent resolutions for compliance with the Arkansas River compact between Colorado and Kansas (Berrada et al., 2008). However, this equation has not been tested in agricultural sites in Colorado, and the crop coefficients have been measured in different locations outside Colorado. Using a tested ASCE standardized reference ET equation with local crop coefficients could help farmers in Colorado make better ET-based irrigation scheduling decisions (Al Wahaibi, 2011).

Furrow irrigation is a method of applying water at a specific rate of flow into shallow, evenly spaced channels (Howell, 2003). These small channels convey the water down or across the slope of the field to the vicinity of plants growing in the furrows or on the beds between the furrows (Kang et al., 2000). This method differs from flood irrigation in that only part of the ground surface is covered with water. The water infiltrates the soil both vertically and horizontally. The furrow stream is applied until the desired application depth and lateral penetration are obtained. How long water must be applied to the furrows depends on the volume of water required to fill the soil to the desired depth, the intake rate of the soil, and the spacing of the furrows (Benjamin et al., 1997). Land grading to provide uniform slopes is essential to permit uniform water application and efficient irrigation. Furrows are particularly suitable for irrigating crops subject to injury if water covers the crown or stems of the plants (Brouwer et al., 1988).

Corn is widely grown throughout the USA, including Colorado. Fertile soil provides a good environment for corn growing in healthy conditions (Kucharik, 2006). Corn is usually planted in May of each year in Northern Colorado when the air temperature reaches at least 50 degrees Fahrenheit (Sacks et al., 2010). Corn is one of the most irrigated crops in Colorado. Corn is typically planted by sowing seeds at a depth of 30-38 millimeters, in rows 75 centimeters apart at 2.8 centimeters interval. Providing the ideal amount of water through irrigation scheduling during the growing season would offer higher production with less cost (Schneider and Pendery, 1983).

Using information on crop ET rates combined with knowledge of local weather, soil, and crop conditions, one can determine irrigation amounts and scheduling. This information must be provided to irrigators in readily usable form for making appropriate decisions on timing and amounts of irrigation. A locally-developed irrigation scheduling tool that keeps track of the soil water balance and required irrigation amounts throughout the growing season can help irrigators keep track of water requirements and make more efficient use of their limited water supplies. The Colorado Irrigation Scheduler (CIS; Gleason, 2013) is such a tool, but has not been evaluated for furrow irrigation.

The objectives of this study were to:

(1) Field test and evaluate the accuracy of an irrigation scheduling spreadsheet tool for calculating soil water deficits (D_c) in a furrow-irrigated corn field located near Greeley, Colorado during years 2010, 2011 and 2012.

(2) Determine the effect of frequency of mid-season corrections of D_c on the accuracy of the irrigation scheduler.

Materials and Methods

Field study

The field site was in northeast Colorado and was irrigated using furrow irrigation. The exact locations of measurement points were determined by a Global Positioning System (GPS). In 2010 the coordinates were Latitude: 40° 26' 42.93" North, Longitude: 104° 38' 4.76" West; in 2011 the coordinates were Latitude: 40° 26' 43.48" North, Longitude: 104° 38' 3.61" West; and in 2012 the coordinates were Latitude: 40° 44' 41.52" North, Longitude: 104° 63' 9.74" West.

A corn crop (DKC52-59) was planted May 25, 2010, and the planting density was 32,000 seeds/acre. In 2011, corn (DKC52-59) was planted May 3^{rd} and the planting density was 34,000 seeds/acre. In 2012, corn (DKC 52-04) was planted May 2^{nd} , and the population of plants was

34,400 plants/acre. The corn was grown on ridges, and furrows in between the ridges were spaced 76.2 cm apart with furrow irrigation by gated pipe. Irrigation water applied in the furrows was measured by Seametrics1 AG2000 magnetic flow meters, and values were recorded using a data-logger (CR200, Campbell Scientific, Inc., Logan, UT) (Chavez et al., 2012), where the flow meter was installed after the pump outlet, just before the water flowed into the gated pipe.

Soil water and crop measurement

The corn field test involved using weekly root zone gravimetric soil water measurements at six depths 15, 30, 45, 60, 90 and 105 cm, and soil moisture was also monitored weekly using a neutron probe at seven depths 15, 30, 45, 60, 75, 90 and 105 cm. In addition, since crop coefficients change with crop development, weekly recordings of corn developmental growth stages, height and leaf area index (LAI) were done to evaluate how well the seasonal crop coefficient curves of the corn represented actual crop development.

The basic measurement of soil water is the difference between the mass of soil samples before and after putting them in an oven at 105°C for one or two days. Samples were obtained from different depths in the field using a JMC backsaver soil probe (Clements Associates Inc., Newton. IA). These samples were immediately put in covered cans (known mass) to prevent evaporation of water. The cans were brought to the lab and weighed directly to get fresh mass, and then they were placed in an oven for one or two days to get dry mass.

Soil water content (SWC) was calculated using these equations:

$$\theta_g = \frac{FM - ODM}{ODM}$$
(Eq. 1)

$$\theta_{v} = \theta_{g} * \left(\frac{\rho_{b}}{\rho_{w}}\right)$$
(Eq. 2)

where θ_g is SWC by mass (g/g), FM is fresh mass of the soil sample (g), ODM is oven dry mass of the soil sample (g), θ_v is SWC by volume (cm³/cm³), ρ_b is soil bulk density (g/cm³), and ρ_w is density of water (1.0 g/cm³).

Evapotranspiration estimation

The Colorado Agricultural Meteorological Network (CoAgMet) includes 69 automatic weather stations that provide internet access to daily weather data. The weather stations have sensors used to measure the factors needed in the ET equations. Climatic data was recorded automatically every minute by a data logger and used to calculate hourly and daily output. The sensor used to measure rainfall was a TE525 tipping bucket rain-gauge located 2 m above the ground. The RM Young 03101 Wind Sentry cup anemometer and RM Young Wind Monitor (prop-anemometer) were placed 2 m above the ground to measure wind speed and direction, respectively. The Vaisala HMP45 was placed 1.5 m above the ground to measure temperature and relative humidity. The Vaisala PTB101B was used to measure barometric pressure. The REBS Q7 net radiometer placed 1.5 m above the ground was used to measure net radiation. The Licor LI-200X Pyranometer placed 2 m high was used to measure incoming and reflected radiation. The Vaisala HMP45C Probe sensor was placed 1.5 meters above the soil surface and was used to measure crop canopy temperature. Soil temperature sensors (CSI Model 107 Soil Temp Probe) were installed at depths of 5 cm and 15 cm where two sensors were used, and 10 where (CoAgMet) cm only one was used (http://ccc.atmos.colostate.edu/~coagmet/station_description.php).

The ASCE-SPM equation was used to calculate reference ET for a tall crop (similar to alfalfa). ET_{rs} is the symbol used for a tall reference crop that has a height of 50 cm. In addition, this equation can work with both hourly and daily reference ET data.

The ASCE-SPM reference ET equation is given as (Allen et al., 2005):

$$ET_{rs} = \frac{0.408 \,\Delta (R_n - G) + \gamma \frac{C_n}{T + 273} u_2(e_s - e_a)}{\Delta + \gamma (1 + C_d u_2)}$$
Eq. (3)

where the units for the 0.408 coefficient are m^2 mm/MJ; ET_{rs} is the standardized reference crop ET for tall surfaces (mm/h); Δ is the slope of the saturation vapor pressure-temperature curve (kPa/°C); R_n is the calculated net radiation at the crop surface (MJ/m²/h); G is the soil heat flux density at the soil surface (MJ/m²/h); γ is a psychrometric constant (kPa/°C), C_n is the numerator constant that changes with reference type and calculation time step (K mm s³/Mg/h or K mm s³/Mg/d); T is the mean hourly air temperature in °C at 1.5 to 2.5-m height; u₂ is the mean hourly wind speed at 2-m height (m/s); e_s is the saturation vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5-m height (kPa); e_a is the mean actual vapor pressure at 1.5 to 2.5-m height (kPa); and C_d is a denominator constant that changes with reference type and calculation time step (s/m). Hourly daytime and nighttime C_n=66 (K mm s³/Mg/h), and hourly daytime C_d=0.25 (s/m) and hourly nighttime C_d= 1.7 (s/m) (Allen et al., 2005).

Ref-ET (<u>http://extension.uidaho.edu/kimberly/</u>) is an electronic program used to calculate reference ET from many equations. Ref-ET was used to calculate alfalfa reference ET using the ASCE-SPM equation (Allen et al., 2005). Corn ET_c was calculated by using the following equation (Gleason, 2013):

$$ET_c = ET_{rs} \times K_{cr}$$

Where ET_{c} is actual crop ET (mm), ET_{rs} is reference ET for a tall crop (similar to alfalfa) (mm), and K_{cr} is an alfalfa-based crop coefficient.

Allen et al. (1998) described the methods of converting crop coefficient (K_{co}) based on grass to crop coefficient (K_{cr}) based on alfalfa. Gleason (2013) developed the K_{cr} curve to use in CIS following the FAO style curve, and Allen et al. (2007) explained the K curve based on the FAO style curve.

The total growing degree days (GDD, $^{\circ}$ C) was used to convert K_c from K_{co} to K_{cr}. The GDD was used to calculate the four crop development stages after emergence to maturation, and then the number of days after planting can be used in tracking corn development to predict the harvest time (Allen et al., 2007). GDD was calculated by using the following equation

$$GDD = \sum_{i=m}^{n} [(Tmax + Tmin)/2 - Tbase]$$
Eq-(5)

where, m is the first day of the season, n is the last day of the season, T_{max} is maximum daily air temperature °C, T_{min} is minimum daily air temperature °C, and T_{base} is base air temperature set at 10 °C for corn. Gleason (2013) calculated the total GDD °C for corn from emergence to reach maturity, and it was set at 1370.23 °C·d during 2010, at 1453.9 °C·d during 2011 and at 1579.2°C·d during 2012.

There is another way to calculate ETc when plants are exposed to stress using water stress coefficient (K_s ; Allen et al., 1998).

$$ET_c = ET_{rs} \times K_{cr} \times K_s$$
 Eq-(6)

The Ks is used to calculate the transpiration by a plant under water stressed conditions when the soil water deficit around the root zone exceeds management allowed depletion (MAD) before applying water by irrigation or precipitation. The Ks is calculated using the following equation:

$$K_{s} = \frac{TAW - Dp}{(1 - MAD)TAW} \qquad \text{for } D_{p} > d_{MAD} \qquad \text{Eq. (7)}$$

 $(K_s = 1 \text{ if } D_p < d_{MAD})$

where TAW is total plant available water (mm), D_p is the previous day's soil water deficit (mm), MAD is management allowed depletion (decimal fraction), and d_{MAD} the depth of management allowed depletion (Gleason, 2013).

Irrigation water was applied to the field before plants reached MAD. MAD is the percentage of total available water (TAW) that is readily available water (RAW). Depth of d_{MAD} (which is the amount of water added to the field) was determined as follows:

$$d_{MAD} = (MAD/100) * AWC * D_{rz}$$
 Eq. (8)

AWC is available water capacity of the root zone (depth of available water per unit depth of soil), and D_{rz} is depth of root zone (cm). The d_{MAD} can be used to determine when and how much to irrigate. When the soil water deficit (D_i) reaches d_{MAD} , when $D_i \ge d_{MAD}$, water should be applied to reduce water stress.

Colorado Irrigation Scheduler (CIS)

Focusing on when and how much water should be applied to the field before plants reach Management Allowed Depletion (MAD) is the best way to keep plants from water stress. To avoid plant water stress, water should be available to plants before they reach MAD. On a daily basis, the following equation was used to estimate the soil water deficit (D_i) in the root zone:

$$D_i = D_{(i-1)} + ET_c - P - Irr - G + Roff + Dp \qquad Eq. (9)$$

where D_i is the soil water deficit in the root zone on day i (mm), D_{i-1} is the soil water deficit on the previous day (mm), ET_c is the crop ET rate for the current day (mm), P is the gross precipitation for the current day (mm), Irr is the net irrigation amount infiltrated into the soil for the current day (mm), G is upflux of shallow ground water into the root zone (mm), Roff is surface runoff (mm), and Dp is deep percolation or drainage (mm). In the CIS, Irr is calculated by multiplying gross irrigation amount with the irrigation application efficiency (Ea). The gross irrigation (GI) is the amount of water that must be pumped to the field; it is greater than net irrigation (NI) by a factor which depends on the irrigation application efficiency (Ea). Ea is defined as the percentage of amount of water stored in the root zone after water loss via surface runoff and/or deep percolation (Gleason, 2013). The Ea value in the simulations for furrowirrigated corn was 55%, and it agreed with Irmak et al.'s (2011) estimation of 55%. Also, Saseendran et al. (2014) cited Irmak et al. (2011) in stating that Ea is 55% in Greeley, Weld County, Colorado.

Crops uptake water from the soil to grow and meet their ET_c requirement, and soil water content added to reach field capacity is called the net irrigation requirement. The soil water deficit (D) is the soil water content at which water should be added to keep plants out of stress. Also, irrigation management prevents water content from decreasing below MAD soil water deficits, which means it is important to apply the net irrigation requirement at the right time. Due to the difficulty in calculating current days upflux and the surface runoff each day (Andales et al., 2011), and the ground water table being below the root zone for most crops, Andales et al. (2011) simplified the equation to be:

$$D_i = Dp + ET_c - P - Irr Eq. (10)$$

Andales et al. (2011) assumed that runoff will occur if (P + Irr) exceeds (Dp + ET_c). Through this assumption D_i becomes negative and can be set to zero.

The site in Greeley was used for field testing because the site was an existing, fully instrumented site for making precise crop ET and soil water balance measurements with soil moisture monitors, soil temperature probes and precipitation gauges. The site was near an existing CoAgMet weather station (Greeley 4). The daily weather data was provided by CoAgMet and used to calculate ET via the ASCE-SPM equation through Ref-ET, and then the ET was multiplied by the appropriate crop coefficient to estimate daily crop ET. The estimated crop ET was used in an irrigation scheduling spreadsheet that performs simple soil water balance calculations to estimate daily soil water deficits. The soil water deficit is also the net amount of water (e.g., net irrigation) required to refill the root zone back to field capacity. Irrigation is recommended to the producers whenever the soil water deficit approached a pre-set MAD level, which was determined as a function of crop type and developmental stage. The ET-based irrigation scheduling tool was evaluated by comparing the calculated daily soil water deficits to actual deficits measured using gravimetric sampling.

The CIS for annual crops was developed in Microsoft Excel using Visual Basic for Applications (Gleason, 2013). It was used to calculate the deficit using soil moisture content and weather data from CoAgMet for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. This data included soil water content, local crop and reference ET, field capacity, available water, precipitation, maximum and minimum temperature, emergence date, end date of season and gross irrigation. The result from running the CIS curve shows the deficit situation during the season. The curve shows the MAD that should not be reached by soil water content to prevent plants from undergoing water stress. Also, the movement of the MAD line shows when soil water content was increased by irrigation or precipitation. Deep percolation and runoff were shown in some cases when application water (irrigation and precipitation) was in excess of what the plants needed.

CIS evaluation

The climatic data obtained from CoAgMet was transferred to an Excel spreadsheet. The calculations of water balance were determined in the furrow irrigation system using CIS. The comparison and the regression lines between different soil moisture measurements and the difference between the original crop coefficient and adjusted ones were also analyzed.

The performance of the measured and calculated deficit was examined by the Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE) and index of agreement (d) using the following formulas:

Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE) was calculated as follows:

RMSE =
$$\left(1/N\sum_{i=1}^{N} (y_i - x_i)^2\right)^{1/2}$$
 Eq. (11)

where y_i is the calculated water deficit; x_i is the actual water deficit; and N is the total number of observations.

Index of agreement (d) was calculated as follows:

$$d = 1 - \left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (y_i - x_i)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (|y_i'| - |x_i'|)^2}\right)$$
 Eq. (12)

Where:

d is between one and zero. A value of 1 represents a perfect agreement, while a value of 0 means a poor agreement, $y'_i = y_i - \bar{x}$ and $x'_i = x_i - \bar{x}$, y_i is the calculated water deficit; x_i is the actual water deficit, and \bar{x} is the mean measured value.

Results and Discussion

Field water balance and corn growth

Water balance is the difference between inputs and outputs of water from a field. Measured water balance from the field showed that the amount of water that was applied to the field through irrigation and precipitation (P) was highest in 2010 which resulted in high values in ET_c , deep percolation (DP) and runoff (Roff) (Table 4-1). Also, in 2011 the applied water was higher than 2012, and losing water by ET_c was higher than other years (Table 4-1). In 2012 the field received 574 mm irrigation, which was low compared to 2010 and 2011 because according to the 2012 Annual Report by Trout and Baker (2013), the field infiltration rate was much lower than in 2010 and 2011 and applied water reached the tail end of the furrow without increasing

gross irrigation. In other words, due to the low infiltration rate, water flowed to reach the end of the furrow with less water applied. Reduced infiltration was assumed due to changes in tillage, field preparation, and furrow packing (Trout and Baker, 2013). In addition, Table 4-1 shows that the amounts of irrigation varied among years, although there was not a big change in soil water content in each season. Comparing measured water balance from the field and calculated water balance from CIS showed percentage of error in Dp and Roff for each season. Percentage error ranged from 19.4 % to 34.2 %.

The calculated water balance equation using CIS resulted in different outputs in Dp and Roff. The irrigation, precipitation, ET_c and soil water content (SWC) were the same because they were measured values inserted into CIS as inputs. The primary objective in using CIS was to understand the deficit situation during the growing season because it is a good indicator of plant stress. The CIS did not predict the exact amount of water that was lost from the field through deep percolation and runoff.

Plant height measurements showed that plants grew normally without water stress or other damage during the three seasons (Figure 4-1). Measured maximum plant heights were between 200 and 250 cm for most plants. Also, maize leaf number in 2010 and 2011 showed similar values during both seasons (Figure 4-2). Plant height and leaf number were used as indicators of plant growth. The soil water deficit experienced by plants throughout the season seemed to have had no impact on plant growth and showed normal Leaf Area Index (LAI) development, as well (Figures 4-3 and 4-4). In addition, measured LAI showed good correspondence with the plant stages of maize based on field measurements during the seasons of 2010, 2011 and 2012 (Figure 4-3) as it relates to Kcr for 2011 (Figure 4-4).

CIS evaluation

Comparing calculated to actual deficit showed how well the CIS was working. Soil water content was considered a good guide to estimate how much and when plants should be irrigated. In 2010 full irrigation was used, and the amount of water applied to the field was 1285 mm. The predicted total of Dp and Roff was 482 mm showing that too much water was applied (Table 4-1); irrigation exceeded water demand which resulted in increased Dp and Roff losses. The CIS calculation of Dp + Roff depends greatly on the value of application efficiency (Ea) that was used in the CIS. The Ea value was 55%, and other studies at this location have used 55% for furrow-irrigated corn (Saseendran et al., 2014). Also, in 2012 the total gross irrigation was 574 mm, and precipitation was low at only 131 mm (Table 4-1). As stated in the 2012 Annual Report by Trout and Baker (2013), furrows were compacted by driving a tractor wheel down each row to reduce infiltration rate. Infiltration was determined using three infiltrometer measurements during the season and compared reasonably well with an aggregated infiltration rate measured with furrow flume data (Trout and Baker, 2013). The results in Table 4-1 show how well the CIS model simulated the field. Also, the Roff and Dp calculated by CIS was 283 mm in 2011 using actual gross irrigations, but using CIS recommended (simulated) irrigation, the Roff and Dp was reduced to 84 mm (Table 4-1). In other words, the simulation by the model corrected the amounts of water that should have been applied instead of what was actually applied. The model showed a potential for simultaneous reductions in both the amount of irrigation and the Roff and Dp losses, and it is not easy to replicate this in the field, but it has been done in the best way using this model. The results for 2011 confirm the CIS model because it was supplied with actual data from the field and resulted in a good simulation. In addition, in 2012 the total actual Roff and Dp was recorded to be 266 mm (Trout and Baker, 2013), but CIS simulation reduced

irrigation amounts, thus predicting the Roff and Dp amounts could have been only 15 mm, which was much lower compared to using actual irrigation in CIS calculations (Table 4-1).

Table 4-2 shows the differences between actual soil water deficit from field measurements and the CIS calculated deficit. CIS showed good performance based on the index of agreement (d) in the case of correcting (inputting) CIS deficits using measured bi-weekly or monthly soil water deficits, and in contrast, weaker results when inserting only one measurement of soil water deficit in the beginning of the season into CIS. Using one soil water measurement per season in CIS showed bigger differences between calculated and actual D_c, and suggests that more frequent corrections to simulated D_c are recommended to avoid water stress in the field. Calculating water deficit is useful to remind farmers when the next irrigation should be without losing water through over-irrigation. Furrow irrigation uses significantly more water than sprinkler irrigation because water cannot reach the lower end of the field until the upper end is almost saturated. Therefore, much water is lost to excessive runoff and deep percolation. The irrigation scheduling spreadsheet showed that there was no water stress because the D_c did not exceed MAD during the whole season, which kept plants in a healthy situation and avoided stress. This model worked very well when corrected twice per month (once every two weeks) using measured soil profile water content.

Figure 4-5 shows the exact weekly deficit point in 2011 through inserting weekly volumetric soil water content and deficit measurements and daily climate data into CIS. Measuring soil water content in the field twice each month resulted in higher index of agreement values compared to having this same data measured less often (Table 4-2) (Figure 4-6). In this

comparison in 2011, the index of agreement (d) was 0.99, which is very high. The CIS provided good results when using bi-weekly per season soil water and deficit measurements compared to monthly and once seasonally for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. These results show that the CIS is running well, and it can be used as a reminder to farmers about the next irrigation. On the other hand, running CIS in 2011 using the monthly soil water content data reduced the index of agreement (d) to 0.43 and increased the RMSE value to 2.80 mm. In 2011, there was a weak relationship between monthly measured and calculated deficits (Figure 4-7). Moreover, using a onetime soil water content measurement for the whole season showed a poor relationship between the actual deficit and calculated deficit. The weak relation was evidenced by an index of agreement (d) of 0.43 and an RMSE value of 2.65 mm in 2011 (Table 4-2). Therefore, the relationship was weaker when soil water deficit was measured seasonally compared to monthly (Figure 4-8). Figure 4-8 shows the deficit in the beginning of the season almost two weeks after planting and before first irrigation (recorded Jun 30, 2011). The SWC in the root zone should be above the MAD line at each irrigation, which means there was only a deficit in the field in the beginning of the growing season. The results show how important soil water deficit is in developing a good irrigation schedule.

Plant growth was normal in all three years because there was no stress during the season because the deficit did not reach the MAD depth. First irrigation in 2010 season was in the beginning of July, and the field was irrigated six times during the whole season (Table 4-3). In 2011, the amount of gross irrigation was lower at 1096 mm compared to 2010 when 1286 mm of irrigation were applied (Table 4-3). In 2012, although the gross irrigation started earlier compared to other years, this year had low gross irrigation compared to other years because the

furrow infiltration rate was much lower and it took less time for water to reach the end of the field (Trout and Baker, 2013) (Table 4-3). The results in Table 4-3 show how the CIS model could simulate irrigation and reduce water use. The total gross irrigation in 2011 was 1096 mm, and simulation of the gross irrigation would have been only 635 mm (Table 4-3).

The model showed that optimal irrigation of the field could have reduced the amount of irrigation water substantially in all three years (Table 4-4). The data presented good results and confirmed the potential for CIS in furrow irrigated systems. Figure 4-9 shows the simulation of net irrigation distributed over the season based on calculated soil water content measurements, daily climate data and gross irrigation in CIS. The CIS predicted daily soil water deficits to guide when and how much the field should be irrigated to prevent plant stress conditions or over-irrigation.

Conclusion

Water use efficiency can be improved by increasing crop production while applying less irrigation water to meet the water needs of plants without wasting water via Dp and Roff. Soil water content plays an important role in documenting and avoiding water deficits. The CIS model provided good results when using bi-weekly soil water measurements and satisfactory results for monthly and seasonal measurements for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. Most values of agreement between calculated and measured deficits were strong and showed that the model worked well during all seasons. Also, CIS worked well by adjusting the amount of irrigation based on soil water deficit status in the CIS. Thus, CIS could help improve water management by predicting the amount and timing of the next irrigation. In reference to the three years of study

and a field simulation, the model was successful in estimating when and how much water should be applied to achieve the main objective of increasing irrigation efficiency. In spite of the different amounts of irrigation in different years and different locations in the corn field, the model gave promising results with high index of agreement values between the actual water deficit and the calculated deficit. However, to make sure this model is working very well, the model should be run in future years as a tactical tool to test its effectiveness. To get satisfactory results from the model, it is recommended to use soil moisture content measured bi-weekly and daily climate data.

References

- Al Wahaibi, H. S. 2011. Evaluating the ASCE Standardized Penman-Monteith Equation and Developing Crop Coefficients of Alfalfa Using a Weighing Lysimeter in Southeast Colorado. Doctoral dissertation, Colorado State University, Fort Collins.
- Allen R., Pereira, L., Raes, D., and Smith, M. 1998. Crop evapotranspiration-Guidelines for computing crop water requirements-FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56. FAO, Rome 300: 6541.
- Allen, R., Walter, I., Elliot, R., Howell, T., Itenfisu, D., and Jensen M. 2005. The ASCE standardized reference evapotranspiration equation. American Society of Civil Engineers Environmental and Water Resource Institute (ASCE-EWRI). 59 pp.
- Allen, R., Wright, J., Pruitt, W., Pereira, L. and Jensen, M. 2007. Water requirements. In: Hoffman, G.J., Evans, R.G., Jensen, M.E., Martin, D.L., Elliot, R.L. (Eds.), Design and Operation of Farm Irrigation Systems. , 2nd edition. ASABE, St Joseph, MI, pp. 208–288.
- Andales, A.A. Chávez, J.L., and Bauder, T.A. 2011. Irrigation Scheduling: The Water Balance Approach. Colorado State University Extension Service Fact Sheet no. 4.707.
- Benjamin, J.G., Porter, L.K., Duke, H.R., and Ahuja, L.R. 1997. Corn growth and nitrogen uptake with furrow irrigation and fertilizer bands. Agron. J. 89:609–612.
- Berrada, A., Simmons, L., Straw, D., Bartolo, M., and Ley, T. 2008. The large lysimeter at the Arkansas Valley Research Center: Ojectives and accomplishments. Technical Bulletin TB08-02, <u>http://www.colostate.edu/Depts/AES/Pubs/pdf/tb08-2.pdf</u>, Agricultural Experiment Station, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, Colorado.
- Brouwer, C., Prins, K., Kay, M., and Heibloem, M. 1988. Irrigation water management: irrigation methods. Training manual No. 5. FAO. Rome.
- Callan, V., Christiansen, I., and Harris, G. 2004. Knowledge management in cotton and grain irrigation. Occasional Publication. Australian Cotton Cooperative Research Centre: Narrabri, NSW.
- Cattivelli, L., Rizza, F., Badeck, F. W., Mazzucotelli, E., Mastrangelo, A. M., Francia, E., and Stanca, A. M. 2008. Drought tolerance improvement in crop plants: an integrated view from breeding to genomics. Field Crops Research 105(1): 1-14.

- Chavez, J., Taghvaeian, S., and Trout, T. 2012. Evaluating Remote Sensing-based Crop Water Use Monitoring Methods Using Soil Moisture Sensors. In Biological Engineering (ASABE) (No. 12).
- CoAgMet. The Colorado Agricultural Meteorological Network. Available at: <u>http://ccc.atmos.colostate.edu/~coagmet/</u> (Accessed 13 October 2014).
- Ehlers, W., and Goss, M.J. 2003. Water dynamics in plant production. pp. 304. CABI Publishing, Wallingford.
- English, M. J., Solomon, K. H., and Hoffman, G. J. 2002. A paradigm shift in irrigation management. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 128(5): 267-277.
- FAO. 1993. The state of food and agriculture. Rome, Italy. Agriculture Series, no 26.
- FAO. 2009. FAO, ETo calculator version 3.1, Evapotranspiration from Reference Surface, FAO, Land and Water Division, Rome, Italy.
- Gavilan, P., Lorite, I., Tornero, S., and Berengena, J. 2006. Regional calibration of Hargreaves equation for estimating reference ET in a semiarid environment. Agricultural Water Management 81(3): 257-281.
- Gleason, D. J. 2013. Evapotranspiration-Based Irrigation Scheduling Tools for Use in Eastern Colorado (Master thesis, Colorado State University).
- Howell, T. A. 2003. Irrigation efficiency. Encyclopedia of water science. Marcel Dekker, New York: 467-472.
- Irmak, S., Odhiambo, L.O., Kranz, W.L., Eisenhauer, D.E. 2011. Irrigation Efficiencyand Uniformity, and Crop Water use Efficiency. University of Nebraska-LincolnExtension, <u>http://ianrpubs.unl.edu/epublic/live/ec732/build/ec732.pdf/</u> (checked on 25 March 2015).
- Jensen, M.E. 1968. Water consumption by agricultural plants. Chapter 1. In: T.T. Kozlowski (Ed) Water Deficits and Plant Growth Vol. II (pp 1–22). Academic Press, New York.
- Kang, S., Liang, Z., Pan, Y., Shi, P., and Zhang, J. 2000. Alternate furrow irrigation for maize production in an arid area. Agricultural Water Management 45(3): 267-274.
- Ko, J., and Piccinni, G. 2009. Corn yield responses under crop evapotranspiration-based irrigation management. Agricultural Water Management 96:799-808.

- Kucharik, C. J. 2006. A multidecadal trend of earlier corn planting in the central USA. Agronomy Journal 98(6): 1544-1550.
- Maier, C. A., and L. Kress. 2000. Soil CO2 evolution and root respiration in 11 year-old loblolly pine (Pinus taeda) plantations as affected by moisture and nutrient availability. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30(3): 347-359.
- Mmolawa, K., and D. Or. 2000. Root zone solute dynamics under drip irrigation: A review. Plant and Soil 222(1-2): 163-190.
- Oweis, T., Hachum, A., and Kijne, J. 1999.Water Harvesting and Supplemental Irrigation for Improved Water Use Efficiency in Dry Areas. International Water Management Institute, Colombo, Sri Lanka, pp. 1–51.
- Pereira, L. S., Oweis, T., and Zairi, A. 2002. Irrigation management under water scarcity. Agricultural Water Management 57(3): 175-206.
- Pimentel, D. 2006. Soil erosion: a food and environmental threat. Environment, development and sustainability 8(1): 119-137.
- Ref-ET. Reference Evapotranspiration Calculator. Available at: <u>http://extension.uidaho.edu/kimberly/</u> (Accessed 13 October 2014).
- Rengasamy, P. 2006. World salinization with emphasis on Australia. Journal of Experimental Botany 57(5): 1017-1023.
- Sacks, W. J., Deryng, D., Foley, J. A., and Ramankutty, N. 2010. Crop planting dates: an analysis of global patterns. Global Ecology and Biogeography 19(5): 607-620.
- Saseendran, S. A., Ahuja, L. R., Ma, L., Trout, T. J., McMaster, G. S., Nielsen, D. C., and Fang, Q. X. 2014. Developing and normalizing average corn crop water production functions across years and locations using a system model. Agricultural Water Management. DOI: 10.1016/j.agwat.2014.09.002.
- Schneider, R., and W. Pendery 1983. Stalk rot of corn: Mechanism of predisposition by an early season water stress. Phytopathology 73(6): 863-871.
- Sophocleous, M. 2002. Interactions between groundwater and surface water: the state of the science. Hydrogeology Journal 10(1): 52-67.

- Stockle, C.O. 2001. Environmental Impact of Irrigation: A Review. Washington State University E-Water Newsletter, Fall 2001 (4): 1–15.
- Thorvaldsen, J. and Pritchett, J. 2005. Profile of the South Platte River Basin, Fort Collins. Colorado State University, Department of Agriculture and Resource Economics.
- Trout, T., and Baker, N. 2013. 2012 Annual Report. Documenting Water Savings from Deficit Irrigation and Development of a Decision Support Tool. USDA-ARS Water Management Research. Fort Collins, CO.
- Watson, P. S., and Davies, S. 2011. Modeling the effects of population growth on water resources: a CGE analysis of the South Platte River Basin in Colorado. The Annals of Regional Science 46(2): 331-348.

Table 4-1: Total calculated water balance (crop evapotranspiration (ETc), irrigation (Irr), precipitation (P), run off (Roff), deep percolation (Dp), and the change of the soil water content (Δ SWC) from Colorado Irrigation Scheduler for each year (2010, 2011, and 2012). The difference indicates the difference between Roff+Dp calculated by water balance and Roff+Dp predicted by CIS. The Roff+Dp simulated by CIS (mm) were values obtained when hypothetical gross irrigations were applied according to CIS recommendations. Percent Error is the difference of the Roff+Dp calculated by water balance and Roff+Dp predicted by CIS, divided by Roff+Dp calculated by water balance and multiplied by 100.

Year	ET _c , mm/d	Irr, mm	P, mm	Roff + Dp calculated by water balance, mm	Roff + Dp predicted by CIS, mm	Δ SWC, mm	difference	error %	Roff+Dp Simulated by CIS, mm
2010	796	1285	165	683	482	-29	201	29.4	54
2011	973	1096	228	351	283	0	68	19.4	84
2012	438	574	131	266	175	-1	91	34.2	15

Table 4-2: Statistical evaluation of the agreement (Root-Mean-Square Error (RMSE), Index of Agreement (d), and number of observations (No. Obs.)) of bi-weekly, monthly and once per season calculated and actual deficit for the years 2010, 2011, and 2012. The weekly data relationship is expected to show perfect agreement; therefore, it has been excluded from the table.

Times	Bi-weekly			Monthly			Once per Season		
Year	2010	2011	2012	2010	2011	2012	2010	2011	2012
RMSE	0.81	0.27	2.55	3.08	2.80	6.69	3.74	2.65	6.32
d	0.96	0.99	0.70	0.72	0.43	0.63	0.65	0.43	0.32
No. Obs.	8	8	8	12	11	12	16	14	16

	А	ctual Irr	Simulated Irrigation 2011				
2010		2011			2012	Irr, mm	date
226	3-Jul	103	30-Jun	82	5-Jun	25	8-May
264	13-Jul	103	1-Jul	67	19-Jun	25	6-Jun
214	24-Jul	110	13-Jul	36	26-Jun	25	14-Jun
213	4-Aug	110	14-Jul	58	3-Jul	178	21-Jul
181	17-Aug	165	27-Jul	45	15-Jul	152	8-Aug
188	1-Sep	159	9-Aug	81	22-Jul	127	24-Aug
1286	Total	196	23-Aug	45	31-Jul	25	12-Sep
		75	6-Sep	70	11-Aug	50	23-Sep
		75	7-Sep	42	21-Aug	25	4-Oct
		1096 Total		48	2-Sep	635	Total
		574	Total				

Table 4-3: Actual irrigations for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012, and simulated irrigations (Irr.) for 2011.

Table 4-4: Actual total gross irrigation, precipitation (P), simulated irrigation (Irr.) without inserting soil water content to Colorado Irrigation Scheduler (CIS), actual total application of irrigation and precipitation, total simulated application of irrigation and precipitation, and the difference between actual and simulated applications for years 2010, 2011 and 2012.

Year	Actual Total Gross Irrigation, mm	Precipitation, mm	Simulated Irr., mm	Actual total Irr.+P., mm	Total simulated application Irr. + P., mm	Difference between actual and simulated applications, mm
2010	1285	166	571	1451	738	713
2011	1095	228	635	1323	863	460
2012	573	130	127	704	207	497



Figure 4-1: Figure 4-1: Maize height near Greeley, CO for 2010, 2011 and 2012 seasons. DOY is day of year, 2010 N was in the north side of the field, and 2010 S was in the south in 2010.



Figure 4-2: The average green leaf number per plant (n=2) of maize grown near Greeley, CO in 2010 and 2011. Data from 2012 has been excluded because most of the leaves were exposed to hail damage. DOY is day of year.



Figure 4-3: Maize leaf area index (LAI) near Greeley, CO for 2010, 2011 and 2012 seasons. DOY is day of year.



Figure 4-4: Leaf Area Index (LAI) and Kcr (crop coefficient) of maize grown near Greeley, CO in 2011. DOY is day of year.



Figure 4-5: Irrigation scheduling for a corn field near Greeley, CO using weekly volumetric soil water content measurements and daily climate data in 2011. DOY is day of year, and d_{MAD} is the depth of management allowed depletion.



Figure 4-6: Irrigation scheduling for a corn field near Greeley, CO using bi-weekly volumetric soil water content measurements and daily climate data in 2011. DOY is day of year, and d_{MAD} is the depth of management allowed depletion.



Figure 4-7: Irrigation scheduling for a corn field near Greeley, CO using monthly volumetric soil water content measurements and daily climate data in 2011. DOY is day of year, and d_{MAD} is the depth of management allowed depletion.



Figure 4-8: Irrigation scheduling for a corn field near Greeley, CO using one time volumetric soil water content measurements and daily climate data in 2011. DOY is day of year, and d_{MAD} is the depth of management allowed depletion.


Figure 4-9: Simulated net irrigation distributed over the season based on soil water content for a corn field near Greeley, CO using one time volumetric soil water content measurements and daily climate data in 2011. The figure shows different amounts and time of net irrigation through calculating gross irrigation in Colorado Irrigation Scheduler (CIS). DOY is day of year, and d_{MAD} is the depth of management allowed depletion.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Conclusions

The ASCE standardized Penman-Monteith (ASCE-SPM) and Penman-Kimberly (PK) equations were compared at seven locations in Colorado for 2008 to 2011. The analysis included a comprehensive comparison of the reference daily ET_r values for the ASCE-SPM and PK equations. There was a clear difference between the daily ET_r using the two equations. The seasonal cumulative values showed the ET_r values calculated with the PK equation were generally lower than those calculated using the ASCE-SPM equation. In general, the PK equation tended to give lower ET_r values during spring and fall periods, and slightly higher values during summer months compared to the ASCE-SPM equation. In 2011, which had the most complete weather record, the highest mean daily ET_r was observed at the CSU Experiment Station in Rocky Ford (Southeast Colorado), and the lowest value was recorded at the CSU Experiment Station in Rogers Mesa (West Slope). As a result of the relatively larger aerodynamic term in the ASCE-SPM equation, ET_r was higher from the ASCE-SPM equation during spring and fall periods, when wind speeds were relatively higher. On the other hand, the energy balance term was a little larger in the PK equation compared to the ASCE-SPM equation.

The difference between PK and ASCE-SPM ET_r became generally more negative when wind speeds were above 2 m/s. The difference between PK and ASCE-SPM ET_r was also affected by humidity (actual vapor pressure or relative humidity). The PK equation tended to give lower ET_r values than the ASCE-SPM equation as vapor pressure or relative humidity decreased. Differences in ET_r were generally less than 0.5 mm/d when mean actual vapor pressure was higher than 1.5 kPa. Differences were documented between ET_r measured from a lysimeter and ET_{rs} calculated using the ASCE-SPM equation. When alfalfa was at reference conditions (50-55 cm tall, not water-stressed), the values of the measured ET_r from the lysimeter were higher than the ASCE-SPM calculated values due to alfalfa overgrowth beyond the lysimeter boundaries. Canopy surface area adjustments reduced the differences between measured hourly ET_r from the lysimeter and the calculated hourly ET_{rs} values from the ASCE-SPM equation. Over-estimated lysimeter ET_r can affect the crop coefficient (K_{cr}) values derived from this data. K_{cr} would be under-estimated if ET_r was over-estimated. This study showed that the ASCE-SPM ET_r values can be used to detect possible lysimeter ET overestimation caused by crop overgrowth. Correcting the measurement of alfalfa ET_r from the lysimeter through accounting for effects of alfalfa overgrowth can lead to improved estimation of ET_r and corresponding K_{cr} values.

Irrigation scheduling can be based on soil water deficit using soil water content, gross irrigation and ET_r from a field. A model (Colorado Irrigation Scheduler, CIS) was used to evaluate and simulate irrigation in a furrow-irrigated corn field from 2010 to 2012. Irrigation efficiency depends on increasing crop production with less water and reducing water losses via percolation and runoff. The CIS model provided good irrigation recommendations during the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. Most index of agreement (d) values between actual and calculated deficit were high and showed the model was working well during the growing season. CIS can help to schedule irrigation as the season progresses. Referencing the past three years and simulated reality in the field, the model was successful in estimating when and how much water should be applied to the field. In spite of the different amounts of irrigation in different years and different corn planting locations, the CIS model gave promising results as demonstrated by index of agreement values of 0.5 or above for most years of this study. This shows the extent of

matching the real deficit with the calculated deficit. However, to make sure this model is working very well, CIS should be utilized in fields close to the study locations that were tested. In addition, one may possibly apply the data from the field day-by-day and let the model make estimations that depend on daily climate data from the field. Correcting the CIS with measured soil moisture content every other week combined with daily climate data showed that the CIS model could effectively estimate daily soil water deficit (d = 0.70 to 0.99).

Recommendations

Based on the findings of this study, the following recommendations are given for future work.

- In place of current crop coefficients that were developed for the PK equation in Colorado, new crop coefficient (K_c) curves for calculating ET_c should be developed for use with ASCE-SPM ET_r values under Colorado conditions.
- Control the over-growth or extension of crop canopies beyond the lysimeter edges to avoid over-estimation of crop ET values from lysimeters.
- If possible, use local lysimeters to develop K_c curves in other locations, such as CSU Rogers Mesa or Iliff, Colorado, since each site has different environmental characteristics. The CSU Rocky Ford Station had the highest ET_r compared to the other six locations in Colorado, and the CSU Rogers Mesa Station had the lowest ET_r .
- Use sprinkler irrigation to insure equal water distribution outside and inside the lysimeter area for uniform crop growth.
- To get optimum results from the CIS, soil water content should be collected bi-weekly. However, the CIS can work adequately with monthly data.
- Test the CIS under other soil and climate conditions and with other crops.